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INCAP IN BRIEF
We are a trusted partner and a fullservice provider in Electronics
Manufacturing Services.
As a global EMS company, we support customers ranging from large
mul na onals and mid-sized companies to small start-ups in their complete manufacturing value chain.
We oﬀer state-of-the-art technology
backed up by our entrepreneurial culture and highly qualiﬁed personnel.
Our services include material procurement, prototyping, produc on
ramp-up, serial produc on, ﬁnal
assembly, tes ng and logis cs.
We have opera ons in Finland,
Estonia, India, the United Kingdom,
Slovakia, and Hong Kong and we
employ approximately 1,900 people.
Incap’s share has been listed on
Helsinki Stock Exchange since 1997.
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2020
A YEAR OF MAJOR MILESTONES

The acquisi on and successful integra on of AWS Electronics
Group was the main event of the year.

at the Indian factory but also on synergy eﬀects from the
successful integra on of AWS.

Incap’s revenue grew 50% year on year and amounted to EUR
106.5 million (2019: EUR 71.0 million). The revenue growth was
mainly related to the AWS Electronics acquisi on, but towards
the end of the year there was also strong organic growth.

During 2020, Incap invested in a further expansion of its factory in
India, new machinery in Slovakia and new assembly lines in
Estonia.
In November 2020, Incap successfully implemented a rights issue
that enabled strengthening the company’s capital structure,
balance sheet and ﬁnancial posi on.

Proﬁtability remained solid. Adjusted opera ng proﬁt (EBIT) was
EUR 14.6 million (EUR 10.8 million) or 13.7% of revenue (15.2%).
The strong proﬁtability is a result of good development primarily
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Looking at 2021, we begin the year
with a strong order book. Our
strong ﬁnancial position sets us
up for our growth strategy and
new investments in both organic
and inorganic growth.

CEO'S REVIEW
STRONG YEAR FOR INCAP
OTTO PUKK
President and CEO

For all of us, as companies and individuals, 2020 was challenging
year marked by the breakout of the coronavirus pandemic. For
Incap, the opera ng environment caused big uncertain es for a
period of me. Our ac ons during the year focused on keeping
our personnel safe and deliveries to customers running smoothly.
The pandemic-related lockdowns and consequent factory
closures were a challenge that might have held back our plans,
but overall, I am happy to conclude that we were able to navigate
through the crisis and stay on the path with our growth strategy.
Our revenue in 2020 increased 50 per cent compared to the
previous year and our adjusted opera ng proﬁt grew 35 per cent.
The growth was largely driven by the AWS Electronics Group
acquisi on, but the second half of the year also showed good
organic growth. The proﬁtability improvement was based on good
development primarily at the Indian factory but also on synergy
eﬀects from the successful integra on of AWS. A er the
pandemic-related closure of the Indian factory, the backlog was
quickly cleared, and the ac vity increased even more than
previously es mated due to new demand from exis ng
customers.
The main milestones of our growth strategy in 2020 were the
acquisi on and successful integra on of AWS Electronics Group,
an oversubscribed rights issue as well as strong organic growth
and the announced new investments in capacity at our factories,
foremost in India.
The key integra on projects of AWS Electronics Group in the UK,
which was acquired in January, have been completed according to
plan.
In November, we successfully completed our rights issue of 10.9
million euros. With the rights issue we were able to strengthen
our capital structure, balance sheet and ﬁnancial posi on and
thus create condi ons for the implementa on of our growth
strategy. The oversubscribed oﬀering indicates indeed a strong
conﬁdence in our strategy. The EMS sector remains highly
fragmented and we want to be an ac ve player in the sector.

we will have 16,000 square metres of capacity there. During
2020, we also invested in new machinery in Slovakia and new
assembly lines in Estonia.
As a globally opera ng electronics manufacturing services
company and a growing organisa on, sustainable opera ons are
a must in achieving our goals. That is why we ini ated a
Corporate Responsibility program during 2020. We want to take
the needs and expecta ons of our stakeholders even be er into
account and aim at maximising the posi ve impacts and
minimising the nega ve economic, social and environmental
impacts of our ac vi es. As a result of the program, we also
launched a renewal of Code of Conduct with plans to oﬀer related
training for all Incap's employees during 2021. The Corporate
Responsibility program served also as a vessel for the integra on
of the newly acquired factories and provided a pla orm for
crea ng common processes. I am sure the program will help us
also in the future to foster our unique company culture. Taking
responsibility is an essen al part of our entrepreneurial culture
and it forms the basis for daily opera ons.
As a result of the AWS Electronics Group acquisi on and
recruitment ac vi es in India and Estonia, the number of
personnel at Incap has increased from 834 to 1,902. I am pleased
to see the Incap family growing and I welcome everyone on
board. I also want to thank all our employees for their
outstanding resilience and ﬂexibility during this tough year and
our customers and other stakeholders for the trust they have
placed in Incap.
Looking at 2021, we begin the year with a strong order book
which will support our growth targets. We also con nue to look
at M&A cases that would represent a strong cultural ﬁt and oﬀer
poten al for geographical expansion. A er the rights issue and
subsequent loan repayment, our ﬁnancial posi on is strong,
which sets us up for our growth strategy and new investments in
both organic and inorganic growth.

In addi on to inorganic growth opportuni es, we con nue to see
good demand from exis ng and new customers especially in
India. In August we announced a further expansion of our factory
in India. The expansion is proceeding well, and we expect the
original factory expansion to be ﬁnalised early 2021 and the
further expansion to be completed by the end of 2021. By then
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT
In 2020, market ac vity con nued on a good level despite the
pandemic. In the longer term, the growth in electronics
manufacturing services is driven by the growing use of
electronics supported with megatrends such as digitalisa on.
The overall demand and market ac vity in the electronics
manufacturing services (EMS) industry con nued on a good level
despite the coronavirus pandemic and its nega ve impact on
certain industries and customer segments, such as the
automo ve industry. Due to the pandemic and measures taken to
contain it, there were some challenges in the opera ng
environment. The lockdowns introduced resulted in the closure of
the factory in India in the spring as well as a par al closure of the
factory in the U.K. The lockdowns and travel restric ons have hit
the global supply chains. However, Incap has not experienced
major interrup ons in component availability and logis cs. The
impact of the pandemic on Incap's opera ng environment started
to decrease towards the end of the ﬁrst half of the year, as the
lockdowns were li ed and travel restric ons were relaxed.
In the electronics manufacturing services industry, customers
con nue to be very price-conscious and expect that their
manufacturing partners con nuously increase their eﬃciency and
stay compe ve. Towards the end of the year 2020, the globally
increasing demand started to cause some issues with the
availability of electronic components and materials. The company
believes that the ability to quickly adapt to changes is a key
success factor in the electronics industry today and in the future.
That ability is necessary in developing and implemen ng new
products, produc on methods and ideas. The company believes
that long-term market development will be posi ve, because
electronics is increasingly used in new types of products such as
light vehicles and other everyday items.
In the longer term, the growth in electronics manufacturing
services is driven by the growing use of electronics supported
with megatrends such as digitalisa on. The transi on to Industry
4.0 and 5G technologies and the growing environmental
technology sector will oﬀer new market opportuni es for the
EMS industry. Popula on growth and the aging popula on will
also open up opportuni es in for instance health care technology.
The EMS industry is highly fragmented and oﬀers poten al for
consolida on.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
A year of growth

2020 was a year of several milestones for Incap: the acquisi on
and successful integra on of AWS Electronics Group, an
oversubscribed rights issue and new investments in capacity at
the company’s factories.

proﬁt (EBIT) was EUR 14.6 million (EUR 10.8 million) or 13.7% of
revenue (15.2%). The strong proﬁtability is a result of good
development primarily at the Indian factory but also on synergy
eﬀects from the successful integra on of AWS.

Revenue grew 50% year on year and amounted to EUR 106.5
million (2019: EUR 71.0 million). The revenue growth was mainly
related to the AWS Electronics acquisi on, but towards the end of
the year there was also strong organic growth. Adjusted opera ng

At the end of 2020, the number of personnel in Incap Group was
1,902 (834). Of the personnel 71.2% (88.6%) worked in India,
5.1% (11.3%) in Estonia, 10.8% (0%) in the United Kingdom,
12.8% (0%) in Slovakia and 0.1% (0.1%) in Finland.

ESTONIAN FACTORY
Incap’s factory in Kuressaare, Estonia focuses on versa le,
technologically advanced, cost-eﬃcient produc on. The factory is
located close to the European markets, serving the company’s
global customer base. Its geographical loca on enables quick
deliveries to Scandinavian and Central European markets.
The factory specialises in prototypes and pre-series, printed
circuit board (PCB) assembly, volume produc on, box-build ﬁnal

assembly, tes ng and logis cs as well as a er-sales services. The
services include also controlled produc on ramp-ups and
sourcing and purchasing.
Incap’s Estonian factory has been opera ng since 2000 and
covers 7,300 square metres. On 31 December 2020, the factory
employed 97 persons.

INDIAN FACTORY
Incap’s Tumkur factory in India specialises in the manufacturing of
electronics and box-build products. The focus is on industrial
customers such as automa on, power genera on and telecom
companies. Customers represent mainly globally opera ng
electronic device manufacturers, who may be established in
Europe but have produc on facili es in Asia. In addi on to the
interna onal customers, Tumkur also serves the Indian market.
The factory produces inverters, UPS devices and PCBs for fuel and

cash dispensers. Its services include PCB assembly and serial
produc on, ﬁnal assembly, design and produc on of prototypes,
tes ng and magne c assemblies.
Incap started EMS opera ons in India in 2007. On 31 December
2020, 1,355 people worked in the company’s Indian factory.
Incap has announced that it will invest in the expansion of its
factory in Tumkur. Approximately by the end of 2021, the factory
premises will be close to 16,000 square meters.

FACTORY IN GREAT BRITAIN
Incap’s factory in Newcastle-under-Lyme in Great Britain has been
serving the defense, security and space industries for over 20
years. The customers include global companies opera ng in
Europe, Asia and North America.
The factory’s services include PCB assembly, electromechanical
assembly as well as cable and wire harness assemblies. The

oﬀering includes also maintenance, repair and overhaul services.
The factory has also a separate unit specialising on quick
manufacturing of prototypes and pre-series.
The factory has been opera onal since 1974 and it covers 4,400
square metres. On 31 December 2020, the factory employed 205
people.

SLOVAKIAN FACTORY
The customers of Incap’s factory in Námestovo, Slovakia, are
global companies opera ng in Europe.
The factory’s services include special PCB assemblies, volume
produc on and electromechanical assembly. The factory also has
a dedicated hall for automo ve business.

The Slovakian factory has experience of electronics
manufacturing since 2008. The factory covers 5, 200 square
meters, and on 31 December 2020, the factory employed 244
people.
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Factory-related investments in 2020
totalled EUR 2.8 million (EUR 1.1 million)
and consisted of the ongoing expansion of
the factory in India, investments in new
machinery in Slovakia as well as
investments in assembly lines in Estonia.

REPORT OF THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS FOR 2020
Incap Corpora on is a trusted partner and full service provider in
Electronics Manufacturing Services. As a global EMS company
Incap supports customers ranging from large mul na onals and
mid-sized companies to small start-ups in their complete
manufacturing value chain. Incap oﬀers state-of-the-art technology

backed up by an entrepreneurial culture and highly qualiﬁed
personnel. At the end of 2020, Incap had opera ons in Finland,
Estonia, India, the United Kingdom, Slovakia and Hong Kong. The
company's revenue in 2020 was EUR 106.5 million, and at the end
of 2020, the company employed 1,902 people.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
In 2020, the overall demand and market ac vity in the electronics
manufacturing services (EMS) industry con nued on a good level
despite the coronavirus pandemic. Customers con nue to be very
price-conscious and expect that their manufacturing partners
con nuously increase their eﬃciency and stay compe ve. In
2020, there were no major changes in the cost level of the
components or price pressure. In the longer term, the growth in
electronics manufacturing services is driven by the growing use of

electronics supported with megatrends such as digitalisa on. The
transi on to Industry 4.0 and 5G technologies and the growing
environmental technology sector will oﬀer new market
opportuni es for the EMS industry. Popula on growth and the
aging popula on will also open up opportuni es in for instance
health care technology. The EMS industry is highly fragmented and
oﬀers poten al for consolida on.

REVENUE AND EARNINGS
Incap's ﬁnancial performance developed well in 2020, primarily
due to the high ac vity level at the Indian factory. The revenue
growth was mainly related to the AWS Electronics acquisi on
ﬁnalised in January 2020. Organically revenue remained stable.
In 2020, Incap's revenue increased 50% compared to 2019,
amoun ng to EUR 106.5 million (EUR 71.0 million). At comparable
exchange rates, revenue grew 55%.
Full year 2020 opera ng proﬁt (EBIT) was EUR 12.6 million (EUR
10.1 million). Purchase price alloca on amor sa on rela ng to the
AWS acquisi on and the acquisi on related non-recurring costs
amounted to EUR 2.0 million (EUR 0.7 million).
Adjusted opera ng proﬁt (EBIT) was EUR 14.6 million (EUR 10.8
million) or 13.7% of revenue (15.2%).
Personnel expenses grew 176% year on year due to the AWS

acquisi on, amoun ng to EUR 14.3 million or 13.4% of revenue
(EUR 5.2 million, 7.3% of revenue). Other business costs amounted
to EUR 4.4 million (EUR 4.0 million). Material costs increased
mainly due to increased business volumes caused by the AWS
acquisi on and amounted to EUR 73.6 million or 69.1% of revenue
(EUR 51.0 million equalling 71.8% of revenue).
At the end of 2020, the value of inventories was EUR 24.2 million
(end of 2019: EUR 10.8 million).
Net ﬁnancial expenses amounted to EUR 1.1 million (EUR 0.4
million). Deprecia on amounted to EUR 3.3 million (EUR 1.4
million) due to purchase price alloca on amor sa on rela ng to
the AWS acquisi on.
Net proﬁt for the period totalled EUR 9.2 million (EUR 6.3 million).
Earnings per share were EUR 2.02 (EUR 1.44).

AWS ELECTRONICS GROUP ACQUISITION
On 23 January 2020, Incap announced that it had signed an
agreement to acquire the en re share capital of AWS Electronics
Group. AWS Electronics Group is a contract manufacturer of
electronics with produc on facili es in the U.K. and Slovakia. The
company's ﬁgures have been included in Incap Group's repor ng
as of 23 January 2020.

The debt-free purchase price was EUR 15.9 million. The addi onal
purchase price was EUR 0.6 million. The acquisi on was ﬁnanced
with a loan of EUR 13 million and paid in cash, with the excep on
of an instalment of EUR 0.7 million, which was paid in Incap shares.

INVESTMENTS
Factory-related investments in 2020 totalled EUR 2.8 million (EUR
1.1 million) and consisted of the ongoing expansion of the factory
in India, investments in new machinery in Slovakia as well as
investments in assembly lines in Estonia.

EUR 6.7 million (EUR 0.0 million) was paid for the acquisi on of
AWS Electronics Group.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The development of services and products takes place during the
ordinary course of business and is accounted for as an opera ng
expense.

BALANCE SHEET, FINANCING AND CASH FLOW
Total assets in the balance sheet on 31 December 2020 stood at
EUR 76.4 million (EUR 36.5 million). The Group's equity at the end
of the ﬁnancial period was EUR 38.6 million (EUR 21.9 million). The
parent company's equity totalled EUR 28.1 million (EUR 14.7
million).

2020, the level of interest-bearing debt in rela on to EBITDA
should be below 3.0 and the equity ra o more than 30%. The
company met these covenants as the actual ﬁgure for interestbearing debt/EBITDA on the review date was 0.6 and the equity
ra o 50.5%.

Liabili es grew to EUR 37.8 million from previous year (EUR 14.6
million). EUR 9.8 million (EUR 5.6 million) were interest-bearing
liabili es. Liabili es grew from the previous year largely due to
AWS Electronics acquisi on. Interest-bearing net debt was EUR 5.9
million (EUR -0.6 million).

As for the loans granted by the Indian bank, the company has
commi ed to follow ordinary covenants and the bank's general
loan condi ons.

The Group's non-current interest-bearing liabili es amounted to
EUR 6.1 million (EUR 2.3 million) and non-interest-bearing liabili es
to EUR 1.6 million (EUR 1.6 million). Current interest-bearing
liabili es were EUR 3.7 million (EUR 3.2 million). Out of the
interest-bearing liabili es EUR 1.8 million (EUR 1.9 million) are
related to the Indian subsidiary and EUR 0.2 million invoice
ﬁnancing facility to U.K. and Slovakia subsidiaries. Other liabili es
include EUR 3.0 million (EUR 0 million) of bank loans and limits
granted by the company's Finnish bank and EUR 0.0 million (EUR
1.2 million) of factoring ﬁnancing used in Estonia.
The covenants of the Group's loans include equity ra o and the
Group's interest-bearing debt in rela on to EBITDA, and their
status is reviewed every six months. In the review on 31 December

At the end of 2020, the company's ﬁnancial posi on remained
strong. Equity ra o decreased to 50.5% (60.0%). Net gearing was
15.3% (-2.7%). The decrease was mainly related to the AWS
acquisi on related increase in indebtedness.
The Group's cash posi on during the repor ng period was good.
On 31 December 2020, the Group's cash and cash equivalents
totalled EUR 3.9 million (EUR 6.2 million). The Group's quick ra o
was 1.0 (1.6), and the current ra o was 1.8 (2.6).
Deferred tax assets include EUR 0.3 million (EUR 0.0 million) which
is related to the parent company's historical conﬁrmed losses and
EUR 0.1 million (EUR 0 million) related to the transac on costs of
the rights issue.
Cash ﬂow from opera ons was EUR 4.7 million (EUR 7.3 million).

PERSONNEL
At the end of 2020, the number of personnel in Incap Group was
1,902 (834). Of the personnel 71.2% (88.6%) worked in India, 5.1%
(11.3%) in Estonia, 10.8% (0%) in the United Kingdom, 12.8% (0%)
in Slovakia and 0.1% (0.1%) in Finland. At the end of the year, 444
of Incap's personnel were women (141) and 1,458 were men (693).

The average age of the personnel was 32 years (29). The average
number of personnel was 1,424 (830).
The number of permanent personnel totalled 667 (238), and the
number of ﬁxed-term contracts were 1,235 (596).

MANAGEMENT AND ORGANISATION
Following the acquisi on and integra on of AWS Electronics
Group, Jamie Maughan was, on 22 December 2020, appointed
member of Incap Group's management team. At the end of 2020,
Incap's Management Team consisted of President & CEO, O o
Pukk; Director of Opera ons, India and Sales APAC, Murthy
Munipalli; CFO An Pynnönen; Director of Opera ons, Estonia,
Greg Grace; and Jamie Maughan, Director of Opera ons, U.K. &
Slovakia.

The Group has manufacturing opera ons in Estonia, India, Slovakia
and the United Kingdom and sourcing opera ons in Hong Kong.
Business units in Estonia, India, Slovakia and the United Kingdom
operate as business units and are responsible besides for the
actual order-delivery process also for the quota ons and pricing in
accordance with the corporate guidelines. Finance and
administra on, sourcing, sales, IT and communica ons are
centrally coordinated by the corporate oﬃce in Finland.

QUALITY ASSURANCE AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES
All of Incap Group's all business units have environmental
management and quality assurance systems. Environmental
management system in all business units complies with ISO
14001:2015, and the quality assurance system complies with ISO

10

9001:2015. All business units also have the ISO 13485/2016 quality
cer ﬁca on for the manufacture of medical devices. The Estonian
and Slovakian units also comply with the Occupa onal health and
safety management system ISO 45001:2018.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 2020
The Annual General Mee ng of Incap Corpora on held in Helsinki
on 20 April 2020 adopted the annual accounts for the ﬁnancial
period ending on 31 December 2019 and resolved to discharge the
members of the Board of Directors and the President and CEO
from liability. The Annual General Mee ng resolved in accordance
with the Board's proposal to authorise the Board of Directors to
decide on a dividend payment of a maximum of EUR 0.35 per
share from the proﬁts of the ﬁnancial year 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2019 to be distributed in one or several instalments at a
later stage based on the Board of Directors' assessment. The
authorisa on is valid un l the next Annual General Mee ng. If the
Board of Directors decides to exercise the authorisa on, the
company will publish the decision on dividend payment separately,
and at the same me conﬁrm the per nent record and payment
dates.
The Annual General Mee ng resolved to authorise the Board of
Directors to decide to issue new shares and other special rights
en tling to new shares of the company in accordance with the

proposal of the Board of Directors. The authorisa on would en tle
to a maximum quan ty of 436,516 new shares and it was valid for
one year from the Annual General Mee ng.
The new shares may be issued to the company's shareholders in
propor on to their current shareholdings in the company or
devia ng from the shareholders' pre-emp ve right through one or
more directed share issues, if the company has a weighty ﬁnancial
reason to do so, such as developing the company's equity
structure, implemen ng mergers and acquisi ons or other
restructuring measures aimed at developing the company's
business, ﬁnancing of investments and opera ons or using the
shares as a part of the company's remunera on and compensa on
system. The Board of Directors would decide upon terms and
scope related to share issues.
The resolu ons of the AGM are available in full on the company's
website at h ps://incapcorp.com/annual-general-mee ng/

EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING 2020
The Extraordinary General Mee ng of Incap Corpora on held on
23 October 2020 authorised the Board of Directors to decide on a
share issue in accordance with the pre-emp on rights of
shareholders in accordance with the proposal of the Board of
Directors. Under the authorisa on, a maximum of 1,455,056 new
shares could be issued. The shares were to be oﬀered to the
company's shareholders for subscrip on in propor on to their
shareholding on the record date of the share issue. The Board of
Directors was en tled to decide on the oﬀering of shares that
poten ally remained unsubscribed for pursuant to the

shareholders primary subscrip on right for subscrip on to
shareholders or other par es. The Board of Directors was
authorised to resolve on all other terms and condi ons of the
share issue.
The authorisa on did not revoke any prior authorisa ons granted
to the Board of Directors to decide on the issuance of shares or
special rights en tling to shares.
The resolu ons of the EGM are available in full on the company's
website at h ps://incapcorp.com/annual-general-mee ng/

RIGHTS ISSUE 2020
The Extraordinary General Mee ng of Incap held on 23 October
2020 authorised the Board of Directors of the company to resolve
on a rights issue in accordance with the shareholders' pre-emp ve
subscrip on right. Pursuant to the abovemen oned authorisa on,
the Board of Directors of the Company resolved on 26 October
2020 to issue a maximum of 1,455,056 new shares in the company
in accordance with the shareholders' pre-emp ve subscrip on
right.
On 19 November 2020, Incap announced the ﬁnal result of the
issue. A total of 2,487,694 new shares were subscribed for in the
oﬀering, corresponding to approximately 171 per cent of the
1,455,056 oﬀer shares. As a result of the oﬀering, the total number
of shares in the company increased from 4,365,168 shares to
5,820,224 shares. The subscrip on price was EUR 7.50 per oﬀer
share, and the company raised gross proceeds of approximately
EUR 10.9 million in the oﬀering.

The purpose of the oﬀering was, in accordance with the strategy of
the company, to provide prerequisites for growth and the
development of the business of the company. The aim was to
strengthen the company's capital structure, balance sheet and
ﬁnancial posi on.
The proceeds to be raised in the oﬀering were to be used to repay
the company's loans, for possible future acquisi ons and general
corporate purposes. The proceeds were to be used primarily to
amor se the company's loan of EUR 13 million by an amount to be
later decided by the Board of Directors, and a er that, for possible
future acquisi ons and general corporate purposes.
In December 2020, the Board of Directors decided to amor se the
loan by EUR 10.0 million.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR
The Annual General Mee ng held on 20 April 2020 resolved that
the number of members of the Board of Directors is four (4). The
Annual General Mee ng re-elected Ville Vuori, Carl-Gustaf von
Troil and Päivi Jokinen as members to the Board of Directors, and
Kaisa Kokkonen was elected as a new member to the Board of
Directors. In its cons tu ve mee ng a er the Annual General
Mee ng, the Board members selected Ville Vuori as the Chairman
of the Board.

In 2020, the Board convened 23 mes and all Board members
a ended in all of the mee ngs.
The ﬁrm of independent accountants Ernst & Young Oy was
elected to con nue to act as the company's auditor, with Bengt
Nyholm, Authorised Public Accountant, as the principal auditor.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Incap Corpora on is complying with the Corporate Governance
Code of Securi es Market Associa on. The company has released a
report on the company's corporate governance in compliance with
the Securi es Market Act as a separate document. The report is
also available on the company's website.

The Corporate Governance Code of Securi es Market Associa on
is publicly available at the website of Securi es Market Associa on
at www.cgﬁnland.ﬁ.

SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS
Incap Corpora on has one series of shares, and the number of
shares at the end of the period was 5,820,224 (31 December 2019:
4,365,168).

3,931 shareholders (3,671). Nominee-registered owners held 9.0%
(5.1%) and foreign owners 0.7% (0.4%) of all shares. The company
does not hold any of its own shares.

In 2020, the share price varied between EUR 8.51 and 19.20 (EUR
7.18 and 23.00). The closing price on 30 December 2020 was EUR
18.45 (16.90). The market capitalisa on on 30 December 2020 was
EUR 107.4 million (73.8). At the end of the year, the company had

At the end of 2020, the members of Incap Corpora on's Board of
Directors and the President and CEO and their interest par es
owned a total of 55,638 shares or 0.96% of the company's shares
outstanding (40,604 or 0.93%).

FLAGGING NOTIFICATIONS
During 2020, the company received the following shareholder
announcement in accordance with Sec on 10 of Chapter 9 of the
Securi es Market Act:
On 27 January 2020, Incap received an announcement in

accordance with the Securi es Market Act, according to which the
total holdings of shares and votes of Ilmarinen Mutual Pension
Company in Incap Corpora on had fallen below the 5-percent
threshold.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In 2020 there were no signiﬁcant related-party transac ons.

SHARE-BASED INCENTIVES
In May 2020, Incap's Board of Directors resolved to implement a
long-term share-based incen ve scheme for the company's CEO,
O o Pukk. The incen ve scheme's purpose is to support Incap's
strategy and incen vise the CEO in the eﬀec ve implementa on of
the post-acquisi on integra on of AWS Electronics Group. The
company has not previously had a share-based incen ve scheme
for CEO O o Pukk. Any reward payable based on the incen ve
scheme is paid out en rely as Incap's new shares.
The earnings period for the CEO's incen ve scheme included the
then ongoing and next ﬁnancial period of the company so that it
will end on 31 December 2021. During the earnings period, the
CEO may earn a performance-based reward amoun ng up to 5,730
new shares of the company based on the development of the
company's EBIT provided that the CEO is s ll in a service
rela onship with the company at the date of the reward's
payment. Possible reward based on the incen ve scheme shall be
paid a er the company's Annual General Mee ng in 2022 has
approved the company's annual accounts for the ﬁnancial year

1 January 2021–31 December 2021. The shares paid as reward
shall not be transferred during a 12-month lock-up period, which
begins from the reward payment.
For the execu on of the incen ve scheme, the company's Board of
Directors resolved on the directed share issue to the CEO of the
company without considera on based on the authoriza on
granted to the company's Board of Directors on the issuance of
shares by the Annual General Mee ng of the company on 20 April
2020. The shares are issued subject to mee ng the condi ons of
the incen ve scheme.
If the company decides a er the beginning of the performance
period and before paying the reward on issue of company's shares,
or on issue op on rights or other special rights en tled to
company's shares so that the shareholders have a pre-emp ve
subscrip on right, the amount of the reward shall be increased by
mul plying the number of earned shares by the share issue
mul plier, or in a way resolved by the Board.

NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION
This non-ﬁnancial informa on sec on of the Report of the Board
of Directors is based on Incap's corporate responsibility program,
which is described in more details in Incap's Corporate
Responsibility Report published in connec on with its Annual
Report 2020.
Incap's corporate responsibility concerns responsibility for its
economic, social and environmental impacts. For Incap, corporate
responsibility means that the company exceeds legal
requirements and takes into account the needs and expecta ons
of its stakeholders.
As a basis for its corporate responsibility programme, the
company has deﬁned a Code of Conduct that concerns all its
employees and suppliers. The implementa on of corporate
12

responsibility ac ons is supported by the company's quality
assurance and environmental management systems.

Descrip on of business opera ons
Incap provides contract manufacturing services for electronics
through its factories and organisa on. Incap's services include
procurement of materials, prototyping, produc on ramp-up,
serial produc on, ﬁnal assembly, tes ng and logis cs. The
company's manufacturing exper se covers also the ﬁnal assembly
into a ﬁnished product.
Incap's business covers the markets of Europe, North America
and the Asia-Paciﬁc region. The company has factories in Estonia,
India, the United Kingdom and Slovakia, as well as sourcing
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opera ons in Hong Kong. In addi on to the actual “from order to
delivery” process, Incap's factories are also responsible for
making oﬀers and pricing according to the group's instruc ons.
Group management also coordinates sales and procurement.
Incap's eﬃcient opera ng model is based on a decentralised
organisa on, where the manufacturing units operate
independently and in an entrepreneurial spirit. The opera ng
model enables faster decision-making, taking responsibility and
agile response to customer needs and shorter lead mes for
customer products.

Respect for human rights and an -corrup on measures
Incap complies with the UN Universal Declara on of Human
Rights, the UN Global Compact, the Interna onal Labour
Organiza on's (ILO's) Declara on on Fundamental Principles and
Rights at Work and OECD's Guidelines for Mul na onal
Enterprises.
Incap does not use forced or child labour and the company
promotes equal opportuni es and diversity. Incap respects the
freedom of engagement and the company does not tolerate any
kind of harassment or bullying. Incap's business ethics focus on
fair compe on, zero-tolerance for corrup on and bribery, and
preven on of money-laundering.
As part of Incap's support and respect for human rights, the
company has also implemented a Conﬂict Mineral Policy. Incap is
commi ed to ensure that its products and processes do not
contain Conﬂict Minerals as deﬁned by EU's Conﬂict Minerals
Regula on and Sec on 1502 of the US Dodd-Frank Act regarding
Conﬂict Minerals.
In 2020, there were no reported incidents of viola on of the
above-men oned laws, regula ons or principles.
Respect for human and labour rights as well as an -corrup on
principles are included in the Code of Conduct. The aim is that all
Incap's employees will receive Code of Conduct training during
2021. Incap requires also its suppliers to adhere to the principles
described in Incap's Supplier Code of Conduct.
Social responsibility
Incap's social responsibility emphasises the well-being of
employees and fair and ethical behaviour towards all
stakeholders. Incap provides its employees equal opportuni es
and possibili es for further development. Incap wants to ac vely
contribute to the sustainable development of its local
communi es.
Incap's Code of Conduct deﬁnes the ethical prac ces as well as
fundamentals for fair treatment and condi ons both internally
and towards external stakeholders. It outlines how Incap's
employees are expected to behave in their daily work and sets
out the principles that help them make ethically sound decisions.

Incap strives to provide a safe and healthy workplace for all
employees and takes adequate steps to prevent accidents and
injuries. Incap expects everyone to respect and follow health and
safety laws and regula ons and to report all incidents, near miss
cases, or health and safety risks. The goal is zero hazards. In 2020,
there were zero reported work-related injuries.
In 2020, 100% of our workers in Estonia and Slovakia were
covered by Occupa onal Health and Safety management system
cer ﬁed according to the ISO 45001 Standard. The company's
target is to cer fy also the Indian and UK factory opera ons
during 2021.
Developing personnel, promo ng career paths and providing
training opportuni es play an important role in ensuring
mo va on and wellbeing of Incap's employees. Incap arranges a
broad range of training opportunites for its employees ranging
from introductory training to process improvement and
management related training. Due to COVID-19 pandemic, the
opportuni es for arranging and par cipa ng in training programs
were limited in 2020 and the training hours per employee
reduced from the previous year.
Environmental responsibility
Incap is commi ed to opera ng in an environmentally friendly
and responsible manner. In its opera ons, Incap focuses on
eﬃcient and sustainable use of resources and materials, which is
achieved through con nuous improvements of recycling rates,
waste management and energy intensity.
To meet this commitment, Incap has implemented an
Environmental Management System (EMS) cer ﬁed in accordance
with ISO 14001 requirements. Incap also complies with all
relevant legal requirements to prevent pollu on and reduce
consump on of natural resources and materials. Incap's aim is to
con nuously develop and improve its processes to protect and
preserve the environment.
In 2020, no viola ons of environmental laws or regula ons were
iden ﬁed in Incap's opera ons.
To ensure eﬃcient use of resources and minimise waste, Incap
op mises the use of all raw materials as part of its
manufacturing. The focus is on improving recycling rates and
waste management, which can be achieved by reducing waste of
raw materials and line rejec ons. The recycling rate for
hazarduous waste was 100% in 2020 and the recycling rate for
non-hazarduous waste improved from the previous year.
Incap strives to improve its energy intensity by reducing its energy
consump on. This can be achieved by using modern technology
and data, energy-eﬃcient equipment, and through smart material
ﬂow and logis cs. In 2020, the energy intensity of Incap's
opera ons decreased and was 62 MWh/MEUR (105 in 2020).

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Risk Management Policy approved by the Board of Incap
Corpora on classiﬁes risks as risks connected to the opera ng
environment, opera onal risks and damage and funding risks. The
company's risk management is mainly focused on risks that
threaten the company's business objec ves and con nuity of

opera ons. In order to improve its business opportuni es, the
company is willing to take on managed risks within the scope of
the Group's risk management capabili es. The company regularly
reviews its insurance policies as part of its risk management
system.

SHORT-TERM RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
General risks related to the company's business opera ons and
sector include the development of customer demand, price
compe on in contract manufacturing, success in new customer
acquisi on, availability and price development of raw materials
and components, suﬃciency of funding, liquidity and exchange
rate ﬂuctua ons.
COVID-19 risks
Development of the COVID-19 pandemic and measures taken to
contain it may have a nega ve impact on Incap's performance in

the short-term. The lockdowns in countries where Incap operates
have been li ed and Incap's factories are fully opera onal with
strict safety measures followed to protect the safety and health of
the personnel. However, as the circumstances may change rapidly
with the pandemic, there may s ll present a short-term risk on
Incap's business ac vi es through the general economic
development and development in diﬀerent industries the
company's customers operate in, the supply chain and logis cs as
well as the health and availability of the personnel.
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Customer risks
Demand for Incap's services and the company's ﬁnancial posi on
are aﬀected by global economic trends and the ﬂuctua on among
customer industries. The risks connected with the customer
demand and the solvency of customers are monitored and
evaluated separately for each customer. The management
considers customer rela onship management to be of utmost
importance and is paying special a en on to it.
The company's sales is spread over several customer segments
balancing out the impact of the economic ﬂuctua on in diﬀerent
industrial sectors. The four biggest customers contributed to
56.3% (77.1%) of revenue in 2020. Out of the total revenue in
2020, 18 customers (10) exceeded EUR 1 million revenue.
Electronics manufacturing services is a highly compe ve
industry, with con nuous pressure on cost level management.
Incap has succeeded in increasing the eﬃciency of its opera ons
and managing the costs.
Financial risks
The ﬁnancial posi on of the company is good and the suﬃciency
of ﬁnancing and working capital does not pose a signiﬁcant risk.
The company did not record any credit losses in 2020.

The value of the shares in subsidiaries in the parent group has a
signiﬁcant impact on the parent company's equity and therefore
on, for example, equity ra o. Based on the impairment
calcula ons in connec on with the ﬁnancial statements for 2020
there is no need for any write-down of the value of the shares in
subsidiaries.
Main currencies used in Incap's opera ons are euro, Indian
Rupee, Bri sh Pound and US Dollar. The changes in the exchange
rates between the currencies and the Euro may have a nega ve
impact on Incap's revenue, result and ﬁnancial posi on.
In a tax audit conducted by Indian tax authori es in 2018,
regarding the ﬁnancial period 2015-2016, the deduc bility of
group costs is being inves gated. The Group has recorded a
provision of EUR 0.5 million in 2018, and based on a new
evalua on the Group has made in 2019, an addi onal EUR 1.2
million provision was booked in accordance with IFRIC 23
(evalua on of uncertain tax posi ons). The case is s ll under
preliminary inves ga on, and if an agreement cannot be se led
with a local tax authority, the company will take the ma er to the
next level of authority. Based on the company´s judgment, the
current level of provision covers possible tax risk.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE PERIOD
There have been no signiﬁcant events a er the repor ng period.

STRATEGY AND TARGETS
Incap's growth strategy is based on its entrepreneurial and
customer-driven culture, ﬂexible opera onal model and its deeprooted cost management mindset. The company wants to drive
industry consolida on, beneﬁ ng from the growth poten al of the

OUTLOOK FOR 2021
Incap es mates that the revenue and the adjusted opera ng proﬁt
(EBIT) in 2021 will be higher than in 2020.
The es mates are given provided that there are no major nega ve
changes in the COVID-19 pandemic situa on, currency exchange
rates or in component availability and they are based both on
Incap's customers' forecasts and the company's own assessments
of the business development.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' PROPOSAL FOR
MEASURES RELATED TO PROFIT
The parent company's proﬁt for the ﬁnancial period totals EUR
2,502,977.11. The Board of Directors will propose to the Annual
General Mee ng to be held on Tuesday, 27 April 2021 that no
dividend will be paid from the proﬁts of the ﬁnancial year 2020
and that the proﬁt for the ﬁnancial period be recognised in equity.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 2021
The Annual General Mee ng of Incap Corpora on is scheduled to
be held on Tuesday, 27 April 2021 in Helsinki. The no ce to the
Annual General Mee ng will be published at a later date.
In Helsinki, 24 March 2021
Incap Corpora on
Board of Directors
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industry while maintaining its cost eﬃciency and long-term
proﬁtability. To con nue its strong track record, the company is
focusing on three strategic cornerstones: growth, proﬁtability and
opera onal excellence.
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„

Incap’s revenue grew 50%
year on year and
amounted to EUR 106.5
million in 2020.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

1 000 euros

Note

1 Jan-31 Dec 2020

1 Jan-31 Dec 2019

Revenue
Other opera ng income
Changes in inventories of ﬁnished goods and work in progress
Raw materials and consumables used
Personnel expenses
Deprecia on and amor sa on
Other opera ng expenses
Opera ng proﬁt

3
4
5
5
8
7
6

106,494
1,062
723
73,617
14,315
3,347
4,406
12,594

71,022
1,004
-408
50,987
5,178
1,384
3,983
10,086

Financial income and expenses
Proﬁt before tax

9

-1,086
11,508

-422
9,664

Income tax
Proﬁt for the year

10

-2,290
9,218

-3,390
6,274

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income:
Items that are not transferred to the statement of income
Revalua on of employee beneﬁts
Items that may be reclassiﬁed subsequently to proﬁt or loss
Transla on diﬀerences from foreign units
Other comprehensive income, net

-14

-34

-2,965
-2,980

-95
-128

Total comprehensive income

6,239

6,146

Total comprehensive income a ributable to:
Equity holders of the parent company

6,239

6,146

2.02

1.44

2.02

1.44

4,565,015
4,570,745

4,365,168
4,365,168

Earnings per share from proﬁt for the year a ributable to equity holders of the parent
Basic earnings per share
Earnings per share

11

Diluted earnings per share
Earnings per share

11

Average number of shares:
basic
diluted
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

1 000 euros

Note

1 Jan-31 Dec 2020

1 Jan-31 Dec 2019

6,825
4,584
7,086
4,640
4
744
205

4,853
2,463
894
13
4
147
203

24,087

8,576

24,176
24,202
3,899

10,845
10,891
6,163

Total current assets

52,278

27,899

Total assets

76,365

36,475

1,000
-4,629
21,491
20,719

1,000
-1,664
11,028
11,519

38,580

21,883

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Other ﬁnancial assets
Deferred tax assets
Other receivables

12
12
13
13
14
15
17

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity a ributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital
Exchange diﬀerences
Unrestricted equity reserve
Retained earnings

16
17
18

19

Total equity

18

Non-current liabili es
Non-Interest-bearing liabili es
Interest-bearing liabili es
Deferred tax liabili es

24
23
15

1,619
6,103
881

1,619
2,333
0

Current liabili es
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

24
23

25,494
3,687

7,405
3,234

Total liabili es

37,785

14,592

Total equity and liabili es

76,365

36,475
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

1 000 euros
Cash ﬂow from opera ons
Opera ng proﬁt, in total
Adjustments to opera ng proﬁt
Change in working capital
Interest paid
Interest received
Tax paid and tax refund
Cash ﬂow from opera ons
Cash ﬂow from inves ng ac vi es
Capital expenditure on tangible and intangible assets
Acquisi ons
Cash ﬂow from inves ng ac vi es
Cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing ac vi es
Share issue
Share issue transac on costs
Drawdown of loans
Repayments of loans
Right-of-use asset payments
Cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing ac vi es
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Eﬀects of changes in exchange rates
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Note

27

2

19
19

28

18

1 Jan-31 Dec 2020

1 Jan-31 Dec 2019

12,594
3,667
-7,850
-954
5
-2,752
4,709

10,086
1,431
-1,260
-407
2
-2,537
7,315

-2,793
-6,679
-9,471

-1,123
-1,123

10,913
-563
14,456
-20,693
-1,188
2,926

3,507
-5,895
-561
-2,949

-1,836
6,163
-428
3,899

3,243
2,894
27
6,163
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
IN CHANGES OF EQUITY

1 000 euros
Equity at 1 January 2020
Total comprehensive income
Currency transla on diﬀerences
Transac ons with the owners¹
Other changes²
Equity at 31 December 2020

1 000 euros
Equity at 1 January 2019
Total comprehensive income
Currency transla on diﬀerences
Other changes²
Equity at 31 December 2019

Share capital

Unrestricted
equity
reserve

Transla on
diﬀerences

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

1,000

11,028

-1,664

11,519
9,218

21,883
9,218
-2,965
10,494
-51
38,580

-2,965
10,463
1,000

21,491

-4,629

Share capital

Unrestricted
equity
reserve

Transla on
diﬀerences

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

1,000

11,028

-1,569

5,279
6,274

15,738
6,274
-95
-34
21,883

-95
1,000

11,028

¹ Informa on on transac ons with the owners is presented in Note 19
² Informa on on Other changes is presented in Note 19

20

32
-51
20,719
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-1,664

-34
11,519

„

In August 2020, we announced
a further expansion of our
factory in India.

„

A major milestone of our
growth strategy in 2020
was the acquisition and
successful integration of
AWS Electronics Group.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES APPLIED IN
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BASIS OF PREPARATION
These Incap Group ﬁnancial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Interna onal Financial Repor ng Standards in
conformity with the IAS and IFRS standards and SIC and IFRIC
interpreta ons in force at the balance sheet date, 31 December
2020. The notes to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements also
comply with Finnish accoun ng and company legisla on.
The ﬁnancial statements in the oﬃcial compiled version are
presented in unabbreviated form to an accuracy of two decimals.
In the Annual Report, the ﬁnancial statement data is presented in
thousands of euros.

The prepara on of ﬁnancial statements in accordance with IFRS
calls for the making of certain es mates by Group management
as well as for management's judgement in applying accoun ng
policies. The es mates having the greatest eﬀect on the ﬁnancial
statement ﬁgures are presented in the note “Accoun ng policies
requiring management's judgement and key sources of
es ma on uncertainty.”

ACQUIRED BUSINESSES
Business combina ons are accounted by applying the acquisi on
method. The acquisi on costs are recognised as an aggregate of
the considera on transferred measured at the acquisi on-date
fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree. For each business combina on the group elects,
whether to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree
at fair value or at the propor onate share of the acquiree's
iden ﬁable net assets. Acquisi on-related costs are expensed in
proﬁt or loss in the periods in which they are incurred, and the
services are received.
When the group acquires a business, it classiﬁes and designates
the liquid assets and liabili es assumed based on the contractual
terms, economic condi ons and other per nent condi ons as
they exist at the acquisi on date.
A poten al con ngent considera on is recognized at the
acquisi on-date fair value. The con ngent considera on classiﬁed
as an asset or a liability, mee ng the criteria of a ﬁnancial
instrument in accordance with IFRS 9, is measured at fair value at
each repor ng date and changes are recognized in proﬁt or loss.
If the con ngent considera on is not within the scope of IFRS 9, it
is measured in accordance with other applicable IFRS standard. A
con ngent considera on classiﬁed as an equity instrument is not
to be remeasured and its subsequent measurement will be
accounted for within equity.
The goodwill is ini ally measured at acquisi on cost, which is
propor onate to the amount, for which the aggregate of the

considera on transferred and the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree exceed the propor onate share of the
recognized iden ﬁable net amount of the acquired assets and
liabili es assumed. If the fair value of the acquired iden ﬁable
net assets exceeds the aggregate considera on transferred, the
group reassesses whether it has correctly iden ﬁed all of the
acquired assets and liabili es assumed, and review the
procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at
the acquisi on date. If the fair value of the net assets, even a er
reassessment, exceeds the aggregate considera on transferred,
the proﬁt is recognised in proﬁt or loss.
A er the ini al recogni on, the goodwill is measured at
amor sed cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment tes ng, goodwill acquired in a business
combina on is, from the acquisi on date, allocated to each of
the Group's cash-genera ng units, that are expected to beneﬁt
from the combina on, irrespec ve of whether other assets or
liabili es of the acquiree are assigned to those units or groups of
units.
When goodwill is allocated to the cash-genera ng unit and a
por on of the unit's business is disposed, the goodwill
associated with the disposed opera on is included in the
carrying amount of the opera on when determining the gain or
loss on disposal. In these situa ons, the goodwill is measured on
the basis of the rela ve values of the opera on disposed of and
the por on of the cash-genera ng unit retained.

TRANSLATION OF ITEMS DENOMINATED IN FOREIGN CURRENCY
Separate companies
Transac ons denominated in foreign currency are recorded in the
func onal currency using the exchange rate on the date of the
transac on. Balance sheet items denominated in foreign currency
are translated to the func onal currency using the exchange rates
at the balance sheet date.
Gains and losses resul ng from transac ons denominated in
foreign currency and the transla on of balance sheet items are
recorded in the income statement. Exchange gains and losses
resul ng from opera ons are recorded under the corresponding

items above opera ng proﬁt. Exchange gains and losses resul ng
from loans denominated in foreign currency are recorded under
ﬁnancial income and expenses.

Group
Figures rela ng to the proﬁt and ﬁnancial posi on of Group units
are measured in the main func onal currency of each unit. The
Incap Group's ﬁnancial statements are presented in euros, which
is the func onal and presenta on currency of the Group's parent
company.
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The income and expense items in the income statements of
foreign Group companies have been translated to euros using the
average exchange rate during the year, and their balance sheets
using the exchange rates at the balance sheet date. The
transla on of the proﬁt for the ﬁnancial year using diﬀerent
exchange rates in the income statement and the balance sheet
results in an exchange diﬀerence, which is recorded as transla on
diﬀerences in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. The exchange diﬀerences arising from the elimina on of
the acquisi on cost of foreign subsidiaries and equity items
accumulated a er the acquisi on are recorded as transla on

diﬀerences in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Currency rates used in consolida on 31 Dec 2020
31 Dec 2020

EUR/INR USD/INR EUR/GBP EUR/HKD EUR/USD

Average exchange
rate during the
year 2020
84.5684

74.0996

0.8892

8.8517

1.1413

Exchange rate
on 31 Dec 2020

73.0536

0.8990

9.5142

1.2271

89.7931

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are measured at original cost less
accumulated deprecia on and impairment losses. Property, plant
and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method
over their es mated useful life. The es mated useful lives of
assets are the following:

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of an item
of property, plant and equipment only when it is probable that
future economic beneﬁts from the asset will ﬂow to the Group.
Other repair and maintenance expenses are recognised as an
expense as they arise.

l Buildings
l Machinery and Equipment
l Motor Vehicles

Deprecia on of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases
when the asset is classiﬁed as for sale in accordance with IFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discon nued Opera ons.
Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower by
carrying amount or by the fair value less the selling expenses.
Deprecia ons on assets held for sale have been ceased at the
date of classiﬁca on.

18–24 years
3–10 years
3–5 years

According to the IFRS 16 Leases standard, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a case by case basis based on the length of each
lease contract period.
The residual value of assets and their useful lives are reviewed at
each balance sheet date and, if necessary, are adjusted to reﬂect
changes that have occurred in the expecta ons for an asset's
economic beneﬁts.

Capital gains and losses on the re rements and disposals of
property, plant and equipment are recorded either in other
opera ng income or expenses.

BORROWING COSTS
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS
Government grants are recognised, when there is reasonable
assurance that the grant is received and that the Group will
comply with the a ached condi ons. Government grants are
recognised in proﬁt or loss on a systema c basis over the periods

that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised in
proﬁt or loss on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the
asset.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill is the propor on of the acquisi on cost which exceeds
the Group's share of the fair value, at the date of acquisi on, of
the net asset value of a company acquired a er 1 January 2004.
Other costs directly a ributable to an acquisi on are also
included in the acquisi on cost.
Goodwill and other intangible assets with an indeﬁnite useful life,
such as the value of customer rela onships, are not amor sed
but are tested annually for any impairment. The tes ng involves
the alloca on of goodwill to units genera ng cash ﬂow and the
measurement at cost less impairment losses. Research and
development expenditure is recorded as an expense in the
income statement.

An intangible asset is recorded in the balance sheet only if the
cost of the asset can be determined reliably and it is probable
that the expected future economic beneﬁts that are a ributable
to the asset will ﬂow to the en ty. Intangible assets are recorded
in the balance sheet at cost and amor sed in the income
statement over their known or es mated useful life.
Incap Group's purchase price alloca on related intangible assets
are amor sed following way, customer rela onships over 12
years, orderbook in 1 year and inventory in 6 months.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are measured at the lower of acquisi on cost or net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
cost method. The cost of ﬁnished and semi-ﬁnished products
comprises raw materials, direct labour expenses, other direct
expenses as well as ﬁxed and variable produc on overheads,
based on the normal capacity of the produc on facili es.
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The net realisable value is the es mated selling price of the asset
less the es mated costs incurred in bringing the product to its
present condi on and selling expenses. The company is
evalua ng annually the inventory realisable and usable value and
is making write-downs if required.

LEASES
The Group as lessee
Incap is opera ng as a lessee. The Group leases e.g. oﬃce
premises and produc on machinery. The lease contracts are
mainly ﬁxed-term agreements for which the lease-term ends
within 5 years of the date of the ini al applica on. For the lease
agreements for which the lease-term can be terminated within 12
months of the date of the ini al applica on, the group applies the
excep ons in IFRS 16 -standard rela ng to short-term leases.
Addi onally, the group applies the excep ons in IFRS 16 rela ng
to leases for which the underlying assets is of low value.
Many of the Group's lease contracts include extension and
termina on op ons. In assessing whether to exercise these
op ons, the group applies judgements by considering all the

factors, which have an impact on the economic beneﬁt received
by the group from extension or termina on of a contract. Fixedterm contracts, which have an extension op on to con nue on
current contract terms without separate no ﬁca on from the
lessee, are assessed to end at the end-date of the ini al ﬁxed
lease term.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset from the lease
contracts and a lease liability from the lease payments. The group
u lizes the short-term and low value lease exemp ons for lease
contracts and recognises these as expenses in other opera ng
expense. The lease contracts as presented as deprecia on and
interest expense in proﬁt or loss.

IMPAIRMENT
At each balance sheet date, the Incap Group assesses whether
there is any indica on that the value of an asset item may be
impaired. If any such indica on exists, the asset item is tested for
impairment to assess its recoverable amount. Impairment tes ng
is done at the lowest possible unit level which is independent of
other units and whose cash ﬂows can be dis nguished from the
other cash ﬂows of the en ty.
An impairment loss is recorded when the carrying amount of an
asset item is greater than its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's net selling price
and its value in use. Value in use refers to the es mated
discounted cash ﬂows obtainable from referred asset item or
cash-genera ng unit.

An impairment loss is recognised in proﬁt or loss. If an
impairment loss is allocated to a cash-genera ng unit, it is
allocated ﬁrst to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-genera ng unit and therea er to the other
assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. An impairment loss is reversed if the
recoverable amount of the asset has changed since the last
impairment loss was recognised. An impairment loss is not,
however, reversed to an extent greater than what the carrying
amount of the asset would have been without the recording of
the impairment loss.
Incap Group's goodwill is tested annually. An impairment loss
recorded on goodwill is not reversed under any circumstances.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Pension obliga ons
Incap Group's pension plans are classiﬁed as deﬁned-beneﬁt and
deﬁned-contribu on plans. Payments made for deﬁned
contribu on plans are recognised as an expense in the income
statement for the period which the debit concerns. The

obliga ons of deﬁned-beneﬁt plans concerning the Indian unit
are calculated separately for each plan using the projected unit
credit method. Pension costs are recorded as an expense for the
dura on of employees' period of service on the basis of actuarial
calcula ons carried out by authorised actuaries.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
Incap Group has applied IFRS 2 Share-based Payment to all share
op on plans. Warrants are measured at fair value at the me
they are granted and entered as an expense in the income
statement in even instalments during the ves ng period. The
expense determined at the moment of gran ng the op ons is
based on the Incap Group's es mate of the number of op ons
that will vest at the end of the ves ng period. The fair value is
determined on the basis of the Black-Scholes pricing model for
share op ons.
The Incap Group updates the es mate of the ﬁnal number of
share op ons at each balance sheet date. Changes in the
es mates are recorded in the income statement. When granted
share op ons are exercised, the cash payments received on the
basis of share subscrip ons (adjusted for any transac on
expenses) are recognised in equity and invested non-restricted
equity reserve.
The expense from equity-se led share-based payment
transac ons is measured with a grant date fair value for rewards
by using an appropriate model. The expense is recognised as an
employee beneﬁt expense and as a corresponding increase in the
equity (other equity funds) within the period when the service is
received, and if applicable, when the se lement condi ons are
fulﬁlled (within the ves ng period). The cumula ve expense of
the equity-se led share-based payment transac ons at each

repor ng date, within the ves ng period, reﬂects the amount,
that is based on Group's best es mate of the share-based
payment arrangements that existed at any me during the
repor ng period and are expected to vest. The expense during
the repor ng period is recognised in proﬁt or loss, and it reﬂects
the amount of cumula ve change during the beginning and the
end of the period.
Service condi ons or non-market performance condi ons are not
recognised in the grant date fair value but the probability of
mee ng the ves ng condi ons is assessed based on the best
available es mate of the total number of equity instruments that
will vest. Market condi ons are taken into account in the grant
date fair value. All other terms and condi ons, which relate to the
share-based payment, but which do not include a performance
condi on, are considered as non-ves ng condi ons. Non-ves ng
condi ons are included the fair value of the share-based payment
and are recognised immediately as expenses, unless they include
an addi onal service or performance condi on.
The expense is not recognised, if the share-based payment does
not vest due to a failure to fulﬁll non-market ves ng condi ons.
When the payment involves a market condi on or non-ves ng
condi on, the transac ons and rights are considered to be vested
regardless of the fact, whether the market condi ons or noves ng condi ons are fulﬁlled irrespec ve of whether all other
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ves ng condi ons and/or performance condi ons are sa sﬁed.
If the terms of equity-se led share-based payments are modiﬁed,
the minimum recognised expense comprises of grant date fair
value based on unmodiﬁed terms, provided the speciﬁed ves ng
condi ons of the original terms are met. An addi onal expense,

that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment
arrangement or are otherwise beneﬁcial to the employee, is
recorded at the date of the modiﬁca on. If the share-based
payment transac on is cancelled, the net fair value of the
cancella on or se lement is recognised immediately

PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
construc ve obliga on as a result of a past event, it is probable
that a payment obliga on will be realised and the amount of the

obliga on can be es mated reliably. Provisions are measured at
the present value of the obliga on.

INCOME TAXES
Income tax in the income statement comprises taxes on taxable
income for the period and deferred taxes. Taxes on the proﬁt for
the ﬁnancial year are calculated on taxable income on the basis of
the tax rate in force in each country. Taxes are adjusted for taxes
for previous periods.

Deferred taxes have been calculated by applying the tax rates in
force by the balance sheet date.
A tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable proﬁt will be available against which a deduc ble
temporary diﬀerence can be u lised.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Goods sold and services rendered
Revenue recogni on from the sale of goods is recorded according
to the IRFS 15 standard when customer obtains control of the
goods in an amount that reﬂects the considera on to which the
en ty expects to be en tled in exchange for those goods. IFRS 15
standard requires comprehensive disclosures about the contracts
with customers. Incap has adapted at required eﬀec ve date
using the Modiﬁed Approach. Incap performed a rather extensive
analysis of customer contracts which are very similar and
company has iden ﬁed only one type of revenue ﬂow. Revenue
recogni on occurs when customer obtains control of good at a

given moment of me. IFRS 15 had no impact on revenue
recogni on or business prac se. Compared to the earlier prac se
customers obtain control of goods with same manner and there
are no changes revenue recogni on prac se. Exis ng customer
contracts have no obliga ons of a er marke ng, installa on,
maintenance or any other performance obliga ons that customer
could beneﬁt on stand-alone basis.

Discon nued opera ons
There were no discon nued opera ons in the ﬁnancial years 2020
and 2019.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Incap's ﬁnancial assets are classiﬁed to ﬁnancial assets at
amor sed cost, ﬁnancial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, and ﬁnancial assets at fair value through
proﬁt or loss. The classiﬁca on is based on the group's business
model for holding the ﬁnancial assets and on the contractual cash
ﬂows characteris cs of the ﬁnancial assets. Transac on costs are
included to the ini al recogni on value of the ﬁnancial assets,
when the ﬁnancial instrument is not classiﬁed to be measured at
fair value through proﬁt or loss. All transac ons in rela on to
ﬁnancial assets are recognised at trade date.
Financial asset is classiﬁed to be measured at amor sed cost, if
the business model of holding the ﬁnancial asset is for collec on
of contractual cash ﬂows, and the cash ﬂows from ﬁnancial asset
occur on speciﬁc dates as speciﬁed by the contract terms and
condi ons, which are solely payments of principal and interest for
remaining principal. Financial assets classiﬁed at amor sed cost
by the group include loan receivables, trade and other
receivables, deposits and cash and cash equivalent. Trade
receivables do not include signiﬁcant ﬁnancing components and
they are measured at transac on cost in accordance with IFRS 15.
Financial assets are de-recognised, when the Group's rights to
contractual cash ﬂows expire or when it has transferred
substan ally all of the risks and rewards of the ownership of the
ﬁnancial asset outside the Group.
The Group does not have ﬁnancial instruments classiﬁed to be
measured at fair value.
The Group's ﬁnancial liabili es are mainly rela ng to
considera on payable for business acquisi ons, trade and other
payables, and bank loans. Financial liabili es are ini ally
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recognised at fair value, which is the amount of cash received less
any directly a ributable transac on costs. A er ini al
recogni on, the ﬁnancial liabili es are subsequently measured at
amor sed cost. Financial liabili es are included to both long-term
and short-term liabili es, and they can be interest-bearing or
non-interest-bearing liabili es.
Financial liabili es are de-recognised, when the contractual
obliga on is discharged, cancelled or it expires.
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank deposits that can
be drawn on demand and other short-term, highly liquid
investments. Items classiﬁed as cash and cash equivalents have a
maximum maturity of three months from the date of acquisi on.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
The increase of credit risk is assessed at each repor ng date for
ﬁnancial assets at amor sed cost. The applied method is
determined based on a poten al increase in the credit risk. When
credit risk has not notably increased, the credit loss provision is
based on a 12-month expected credit losses.
The Group es mates on a case-by-case basis at each repor ng
date, whether there is any objec ve evidence that its ﬁnancial
asset or a class of ﬁnancial asset is impaired. The factors causing
impairment may include i.e. counterparty's economic diﬃcul es.

The assessment of the Group's credit loss provision is based on a
life me expected credit losses from trade receivables in
accordance with IFRS 9. The Group has not previously recognised
material credit losses. The recogni on of expected credit losses
from trade receivables is based on historical credit losses. The
expected credit losses are measured by mul plying the balance of
unpaid trade receivables by the expected credit loss rate for each
ageing category.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES REQUIRING MANAGEMENT'S JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
When ﬁnancial statements are prepared, future scenarios and
assump ons have to be made, the outcomes of which may diﬀer
from the original scenarios and assump ons. Judgement is also
used in applying the accoun ng policies. In the consolida on of
business opera ons, the Group has used external consultants
when assessing the fair values of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets. Concerning property, plant and equipment,
Incap has made comparisons with the market prices of similar
products and assessed any impairment resul ng from the age and
wear of the assets and other similar factors aﬀec ng them. The
determina on of the fair value of intangible assets is based on
es mates of cash ﬂows related to the assets. It is the view of the
management that the es mates and assump ons used are
suﬃciently accurate as a basis for the determina on of fair value.
The Group furthermore examines any indica ons of impairment
on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at least at
every balance sheet date.
Es mates made in connec on with the prepara on of the
ﬁnancial statements are based on management's best knowledge
at the balance sheet date. The es mates take into account
previous experiences and assump ons which concern the future,
are considered the most probable at the balance sheet date and
are related to the expected development of the Group's ﬁnancial
opera ng environment in terms of sales and cost levels. The
management's judgement and es mates have been used when
tes ng goodwill and deferred tax assets. Changes are monitored
on a regular basis using internal and external informa on sources,
and poten al changes in es mates and assump ons are recorded
during the ﬁnancial year when they are revised, and during all
ﬁnancial years therea er.
The Group con nuously assesses and monitors the amount of
ﬁnancing required for business opera ons so that the Group
would have suﬃcient liquid assets to ﬁnance its opera ons and
repay loans that mature. The aim is to guarantee the availability
and ﬂexibility of ﬁnancing through overdra facili es and other
forms of ﬁnancing.
In order to evaluate liquidity, Incap has prepared a 12-month cash
ﬂow es mate that is based on the Group's budget for 2021.
Based on the cash ﬂow es mate Incap does have suﬃcient
working capital for the company's needs for the forthcoming 12
months.
Because the forecasts that form the basis of the cash ﬂow
calcula on have previously deviated from the forecasts, there is
an element of uncertainty associated with them.

Impairment tes ng
Incap Group tests goodwill for impairment annually. The tes ng is
based on a cash ﬂow es mate prepared on the basis of the
budget and the business plan for forthcoming four-year period
ra ﬁed by the management. Discount rate a er taxes, forecast
opera ng proﬁt before deprecia on and change in working

capital are used as the key factors. The discount rate is comprised
of industry risk, interest on liabili es and country-speciﬁc risk.
The discount rate factors are updated annually in connec on with
the tes ng using informa on received from the market. On the
basis of the calcula ons, there are no indica ons of impairment
of goodwill and other intangible assets with an indeﬁnite useful
life. This has been veriﬁed in calcula ons concerning recoverable
amount.
The recoverable amounts used in the impairment test
calcula ons are determined on the basis of value in use. The cash
ﬂow forecasts are based on the budget for the next ﬁnancial
period and four-year business plan prepared by the management
and approved by the Board of Directors.
The impairment of other assets is evaluated annually as described
above under Impairment. The recoverable amounts of cashgenera ng units have been determined by way of calcula ons
based on the value in use. These calcula ons require the use of
es mates.

Deferred tax asset
Deferred tax assets and liabili es are recognized using the liability
method for all temporary diﬀerences arising from the diﬀerence
between the tax basis of assets and liabili es and their carrying
values for IFRS repor ng purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized
for non-deduc ble goodwill and for diﬀerences in investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that they probably will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets have been recognized to the extent that is
considered to be possible to u lize against future taxable income.
The deferred tax asset is based on the Board of Directors'
es mate of the company's future development during the next
ﬁve years and the resul ng imputed taxable proﬁt.

Segment informa on
The Incap Group does not have business or geographical
segments which should be reported according to IFRS 8. The risks
and proﬁtability related to the Group's diﬀerent business and
geographical areas do not diﬀer signiﬁcantly from each other. The
company's management regularly assesses future changes and,
consequently, the possible forma on of segments.

Applica on of new or amended IFRS standards
The Group has taken into considera on the new standards and
interpreta ons published during the period by the IASB and will
introduce them in future accoun ng periods as they enter into
force. The Group es mates that the new standards and
interpreta ons will not have a material eﬀect on the Group's
ﬁnancial statements in coming years.
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„

At the end of the year,
444 of Incap's personnel
were women (141) and
1,458 were men (693).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
There were no sales of business opera ons in the Group in
2020 and 2019.

2. ACQUIRED OPERATIONS

In releases published on 23 January 2020, Incap announced that it
had signed an agreement to acquire the en re share capital of AWS
Electronics Group. The company’s ﬁgures have been included in Incap
Group’s repor ng as of 23 January 2020.
AWS Electronics Group is a contract manufacturer of high complexity
electronics and the company has produc on facili es in the UK and
Slovakia. The headquarters is based in the U.K. and the company has
been privately owned. The number of personnel was 436 In the
ﬁnancial year ended on June 30, 2019. The former owners of the
company, Paul Deehan and Adrian Keane, are commi ed to support
Incap over the transi on period.
The acquisi on balances Incap’s customer por olio both in numbers
and industrial segments. New strategic foothold is gained especially
in the U.K. markets and Central Europe and posi on strengthened
further in the USA and South-East Asia.
The debt-free purchase price was EUR 15.9 million, and the possible
earn-out will not exceed EUR 1.5 million which is based on 2020
EBITDA of AWS. In connec on with the acquisi on, Incap paid AWS
Electronics Group’s debts and a warrant. The acquisi on was ﬁnanced
with a loan of EUR 13 million and paid in cash, with the excep on of
an instalment of EUR 0.7 million to be paid in Incap shares. The
considera on paid for the transac on consists of a EUR 6.7 million
cash considera on, the instalment paid in shares and realised earnout of EUR 0.6 million. The earn-out and the instalment which will be
paid in Incap shares, are booked in parent company´s balance sheet
as current non-interest bearing loan.
The purchase price has been allocated to iden ﬁed net assets that
include customer rela onships, the order book and the es mated
share of work not included in the balance sheet value of inventories,

based on AWS Electronics Group's EBITDA. Acquired customer
rela onships will be amor sed over 12 years, the order book over 12
months and inventories over 6 months. In the ini al calcula ons,
earn-out was es mated to realize in EUR 0.6 million. The residual
value of EUR 6.6 million remaining from the preliminary acquisi on
calcula on has been recognised as goodwill.
The goodwill is generated by expected synergies in, for example,
opportuni es related to materials purchases and cross-selling. None
of the items recognised as goodwill are expected to be taxdeduc ble.
Leases were taken into account in accordance with IFRS 16 in the
calcula on of acquired assets and liabili es, and the discounted lease
payments remaining at the me of acquisi on were recognised in
interest-bearing loans, while corresponding assets were recognised in
right-of-use assets. Incap has booked EUR 0.1 million transac on
costs as non-recurring items.
AWS Electronics Group generated EUR 35.2 million in net sales and a
net proﬁt of EUR 0.8 million from 23 January to 31 December 2020.
AWS Electronics Group’s pre-acquisi on, unconsolidated net sales for
1–22 January 2020 amounted to EUR 2.6 million, and AWS Electronics
Group would have posted a loss of EUR 0.4 million in the same
period, taking into account the planned amor za on of recognized
items for the period.
AWS Electronics Group’s ﬁnancial repor ng is based on The Financial
Repor ng standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS
102). Based on the es mate made in connec on with the acquisi on,
with the excep on of the accoun ng of leases, there are no such
diﬀerences between the applied accoun ng standard and IFRS
standards that would cause signiﬁcant discrepancies in the ﬁnancial
informa on reported.
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2. ACQUIRED OPERATIONS
Assets acquired and liabili es assumed at fair value on the acquisi on date, preliminary acquisi on calcula on:
LIABILITIES
Purchase price consideration (EUR thousands):

Non-current liabili es

Paid in cash

6,679

Instalment in shares

711

Earn-out

643

Total

8,032

ASSETS

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

1,330

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings, group

6,110

Deferred tax liabili es

1,131

Total non-current liabili es

8,572

Current liabili es

Non-current assets

Trade and other payables

10,918

Property, plant and equipment

1,174

Current interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Right-of-use assets

1,439

Total current liabili es

14,084

Other intangible assets: customer rela onships

5,214
Total liabili es

22,656

Other intangible assets: orderbook

581

Other intangible assets: other

3,166

71

Total non-current assets

8,479

Current assets
Inventories

Total iden ﬁable net assets

1,459

Goodwill

6,643

Acquired net assets

8,102

7,827

Trade and other receivables

7 809

Total current assets

15,635

Total assets

24,114

Earn-out amount has been reduced on 31.12.2020 to a level which is in
line with EBITDA based trigger. The eﬀect was EUR 38,082.65 which is
booked in ﬁnancial income and expenses.

Analysis of acquis on cash ﬂows

3. REVENUE
1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 1 Jan-31 Dec 2019
Revenue from the sale of goods

106,494
106,494

71,022
71,022

1.1.-31.12.2020
78,418

1.1.-31.12.2019
46,844

North-America

10,574

10,315

South-America

15

0

Asia

8,297

8,239

Africa

4,849

3,143

Australia

4,342

2,481

106,494

71,022

Geographic division of external
customers’ revenue
Europe

Cash payment (cashﬂow from inves ng ac vi es)
Acquisi on transac on costs in 2019
(cash ﬂow from opera ons)
Acquisi on transac on costs in 2020
(cash ﬂow from opera ons)
Acquisi on transac on costs
(cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing ac vi es)

690
14
37

5. RAW MATERIALS AND SERVICES
Raw materials and consumables
Purchases during the
ﬁnancial year

1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 1 Jan-31 Dec 2019
79,129

Change in inventories

External services

The Group has one customer, whose revenue exceeds 10% of the
Group's revenue. The combined share of the customer out of the
Group's revenue is approximately 43%.

6,679

50,332

-5,537

492

73,592

50,824

26

164

73,617

50,987

6. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
4. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 1 Jan-31 Dec 2020
Lease expenses

1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 1 Jan-31 Dec 2019
Export incen ve from
Indian government
Grants
Net gains on the disposal of
property, plant and equipment
Unrealized unemployment
security deduc ble
Other income

819

983

159

0

6

15

51

0

27

7

1,062

1,004

Operating and maintenance
expenses for property and
machinery
Other expenses

Auditors' fees
Audi ng fees, EY

376
3,908
4,406

327
3,650
3,983

1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 1 Jan-31 Dec 2020
123

114

67

0

Cer ﬁcates and statements

12

0

1

2

Other services
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Audi ng fees, non EY
Tax advice

30

121

2

2

330

118

7. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

10. INCOME TAX

1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 1 Jan-31 Dec 2019
Deprecia on and amor sa on
by assets class
Intangible assets
6

7

925
931

0
7

Buildings

122

104

Right-of-use assets, building

785

310

Machinery and equipment

933

682

Right-of-use assets, machinery

528

237

47

44

2,415

1,377

3,347

1,384

Other capitalised expenditure
Other intangibles
Tangible assets

Other tangible assets
Total deprecia on,
amor sa on and write-downs

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 1 Jan-31 Dec 2019
Wages and salaries
Pension costs - defined
contribution plans

12,161

4,445

504

167

Pension costs - deﬁned-beneﬁt
plans

81

98

Re-measurements on deﬁned
beneﬁt pensions, actuarial
calcula on proﬁt (+), loss (-)

-14

-34

Stock op ons and share-based
incen ves

32

-

Other statutory employer
expenses

Average number of Group’s
personnel during the period

1,551

502

14,315

5,178

1,424

830

Informa on on stock op ons is presented in Note 20 Share-based
payments. Informa on on management's emloymeee beneﬁts is
presented in Note 31 Related party transac ons.

1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
Income tax in the
2020
2019
income statement
-2,599
Income tax on profits for the year
-2,967
Income tax on profits of previous periods
-813
Income taxes for the financial period
-2,967
-3,412
Changes in deferred tax assets created this
year
421
0
Current year change in deferred tax
liabilities
280
0
Previous years change in deferred tax
liabilities
-25
22
Change in deferred taxes total
677
22
Income tax expense
-2,290
-3,390
Reconsilla on of tax expenses in the
income statement and taxes calculated on
the basis of the 20% tax rate applicable in 1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
the Group’s home country
2019
2020
Proﬁt before taxes
11,508
9,664
Tax at the applicable rate
in the home country
-2,302
-1,933
Divergent tax rates of foreign subsidiaries
-365
-288
Tax provision for current year
0
-339
Tax provision for previous years
0
-813
-195
-225
Foreign with-holding tax
Tax free income and non-deductable
-80
0
expenses
Deferred tax assets for conﬁrmed losses
338
0
Temporary diﬀerences booked in equity
113
0
Other temporary diﬀerence
58
22
Non-recorded deferred tax
143
186
Tax charge
-2,290
-3,390
IFRIC 23 speciﬁes how to reﬂect uncertainty in accoun ng for income
taxes. Implementa on of IFRIC 23 standard had an impact on how Group
evaluated uncertain es in years 2016-2019 arising from tax audit performed by Indian tax authori es during 2018. In this case, the deduc bility of group costs are being inves gated. The case is s ll under preliminary inves ga on and if an agreement cannot be se led with a local tax
authority, the company's point of view will be processed. The Group has
recorded a provision of EUR 0.5 million in 2018 and based on a new
evala on the Group has made in 2019, an addi onal EUR 1.2 million provision was booked in accordance with IFRIC 23 (evalua on of uncertain
tax posi ons). Therefore the total provision amounts to approximately
EUR 1.6 million. Based on company´s judgment, current level of provision covers possible tax risk.

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

9. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
Financial income
Foreign exchange gains on
liabilities
Other financing income

Financial expenses

1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 1 Jan-31 Dec 2019
549
43
592

468
5
473

1 Jan-31 Dec 2020 1 Jan-31 Dec 2019

Interest expenses from ﬁnancial
liabili es mea-sured at
amor sed cost

397

270

Right-of-use assets interests

178

70

Exchange rate losses

718

493

Other ﬁnancial expenses

385

63

1,678

896

-1,086

-422

Total ﬁnancial income and
expenses

Undiluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing parent company´s
proﬁt for the year with the period´s weighted average number of shares
outstanding.
2020
2019
Profit for the year attributable to equity
6,274
9,218
holders of the parent
Weighted average number of shares during
the period
4,565,015 4,365,168
Undiluted earnings per share, EUR/share
2.02
1.44
When calculating diluted earnings per share, stock options and sharebased incentive program bonds are taken into account in the weighted
average number of shares. Stock options have dilutive effect when their
subscription price is lower than the fair value of the share. Fair value of a
share is calculated as the average price of the shares during the period.
Con nuing opera ons
Proﬁt for the year a ributable to equity
holders of the parent, con nuing opera ons
Weighted average number of shares during
the period
Eﬀect of incen ve program
Weighted average number of shares used in
calcula ng adjusted diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share, EUR/share
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2020

2019

9,218

6,274

4,565,015
5,730

4,365,168
0

4,570,745
2.02

4,365,168
1.44
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land
375
0
0
0
0
-41
334

Buildings and
advances
2 063
12
472
-87
317
-228
2,550

Machinery and
Equipment
5 356
269
3,220
-142
380
-547
8,536

Other tangible
assets
522
0
735
-429
18
-58
788

Total
8 316
281
4,427
-659
715
-874
12,207

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

-666
-116
-418
0
87
73
-1,037

-2,822
-893
-2,232
43
142
291
-5,470

-435
-44
-675
-2
429
48
-679

-3,922
-1,053
-3,324
41
659
413
-7,186

Book value 1 Jan 2020
Book value 31 Dec 2020

375
334

1,398
1,513

2,535
3,065

87
110

4,394
5,021

Acquisi on cost 1 Jan 2019
Increase
Decrease²
Reclassiﬁca ons between items
Exchange diﬀerences
Acquisi on cost 31 Dec 2019

375
0
0
0
0
375

2,016
0
0
50
-3
2,063

4,906
169
-200
487
-6
5,356

481
0
0
39
2
522

7,778
169
-200
576
-7
8,316

0
0
0
0
0

-563
-103
0
1
-666

-2,351
-674
200
3
-2,822

-390
-43
0
-2
-435

-3,304
-820
200
2
-3,922

375
375

1,453
1,398

2,555
2,535

91
87

4,474
4,394

Acquisi on cost 1 Jan 2020
Increase
Combining businesses¹
Decrease²
Reclassiﬁca ons between items
Exchange diﬀerences
Acquisi on cost 31 Dec 2020
Accumulated deprecia on and write-downs 1 Jan 2020
Deprecia on
Combining businesses¹
Reclassiﬁca ons between items
Cumula ve deprecia on on reclassiﬁca ons and disposals
Exchange diﬀerences
Accumulated deprecia on and write-downs 31 Dec 2020

Accumulated deprecia on and write-downs 1 Jan 2019
Deprecia on
Cumula ve deprecia on on reclassiﬁca ons and disposals
Exchange diﬀerences
Accumulated deprecia on and write-downs 31 Dec 2019
Book value 1 Jan 2019
Book value 31 Dec 2019

¹ Informa on on combining businesses is presented in Note 2 Acquired opera ons.
² Decrease consist of ﬁxed assets that have been disabled in the ﬁnancial year or in previous years.
Buildings

Right-of-use assets
Acquisi on cost 1 Jan 2020
Increase
Combining businesses¹
Reclassiﬁca ons between items
Acquisi on cost 31 Dec 2020

Machinery and Equipment

Total

2,195

815

3,010

231

1,492

1,723

1,295

151

1,447

46

193

240

3,768

2,651

6,420

Accumulated deprecia on and write-downs 1 Jan 2020

-310

-237

-547

Deprecia on

-781

-529

-1,310

Combining businesses¹

-28

-67

-95

Cumula ve deprecia on on reclassiﬁca ons and disposals

-20

136

117

Accumulated deprecia on and write-downs 31 Dec 2020

-1,138

-697

-1,835

Book value 1 Jan 2020

1,886

577

2,463

Book value 31 Dec 2020

2,630

1,954

4,584

Increase

2,195

815

3,010

Acquisi on cost 31 Dec 2019

2,195

815

3,010

Deprecia on

-310

-237

-547

Accumulated deprecia on and write-downs 31 Dec 2019

-310

-237

-547

Acquisi on cost 1 Jan 2019

Accumulated deprecia on and write-downs 1 Jan 2019

Book value 1 Jan 2019
Book value 31 Dec 2019
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0

0

0

1,886

577

2,463

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Acquisi on cost 1 Jan 2020
Increase
Combining businesses¹
Decrease²
Reclassiﬁca ons between items

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Total

894
0

983
34

1,877
34

6,240

5,837

12,077

0

-283

-283

0

4

4

-48

-109

-157

7,086

6,466

13,552

Accumulated amor sa on and write-downs 1 Jan 2020

0

-970

-970

Amor sa on
Combining businesses¹

0
0

-921
-326

-921
-326
284

Exchange diﬀerences
Acquisi on cost 31 Dec 2020

Cumula ve deprecia on on reclassiﬁca ons and disposals

0

284

Exchange diﬀerences

0

107

107

Accumulated amor sa ons and write-downs 31 Dec 2020

0

-1,826

-1,826

Book value 1 Jan 2020

894

13

907

7,086

4,640

11,726

895

980

1,874

0

5

5

-1

-1

-2

894

983

1,877

Accumulated amor sa on and write-downs 1 Jan 2019

0

-964

-964

Amor sa on

0

-7

-7

Exchange diﬀerences

0

1

1

Accumulated amor sa ons and write-downs 31 Dec 2019

0

-970

-970

Book value 1 Jan 2019

895

15

910

Book value 31 Dec 2019

894

13

907

Book value 31 Dec 2020
Acquisi on cost 1 Jan 2019
Reclassiﬁca ons between items
Exchange diﬀerences
Acquisi on cost 31 Dec 2019

¹ Informa on on combining businesses is presented in Note 2 Acquired opera ons.
² Decrease consist of ﬁxed assets that have been disabled in the ﬁnancial year or in previous years.

IMPAIRMENT TEST
Recoverable amounts from cash genera ng units have been deﬁned
in calcula ons based on the value in use, and they involve the use of
es mates.
Tes ng for impairment is based on a cash ﬂow es mate prepared on
the basis of the budget and the business plan for four forthcoming
years approved by the management. According to the company's
es mate there are no external or internal indica ons of the
impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets with an indeﬁnite
useful life. This has been veriﬁed in calcula ons concerning
recoverable amount.
The goodwill of approx. EUR 0.9 million in the consolidated balance
sheet refers to the Indian subsidiary. In the cash ﬂow es mates, the
revenue in India is es mated to grow 8% annually and opera ng
proﬁt to be approximately 13%. Growth es mate of residual value is
2%. In the calcula ons of the ﬁnancial year 2020 in India, a discount
rate of 12.57% has been used (16.79% in 2019). Pre-tax discount rate
is 17.89 %.
Should the opera ng proﬁt used in the tes ng decrease by
approximately 42.5% or should the discount rate increase by less than
23.9 percentage points, there would be no need for write-down.
Revenue and proﬁtability of the opera ons in India have developed
favourably during the past few years and there is es mated to be no
need or risk of any impairment.
In impairment tes ng of goodwill, the residual value of future cash
ﬂows is 65% of the cash ﬂows in the calcula ons for value in use.
Tes ng of impairment is described also in the accoun ng principles

applied in the Consolidated Financial Statements under Impairment
of assets and Impairment tes ng.
The goodwill of approx. EUR 6.2 million in the consolidated balance
sheet refers to the AWS Electronics Group Ltd which was acquired in
january 2020. In the cash ﬂow es mates, the revenue of AWS
Electronics Group Ltd is es mated to grow 6% annually and opera ng
proﬁt to be approximately 5%. Growth es mate of residual value is
2%. In the calcula ons of the ﬁnancial year 2020, a discount rate of
12.94% has been used. Pre-tax discount rate is 15.66%.
Should the opera ng proﬁt used in the tes ng decrease by
approximately 34% or should the discount rate increase by less than
5.5 percentage points, there would be no need for write-down. In
impairment tes ng of goodwill, the residual value of future cash
ﬂows is 62% of the cash ﬂows in the calcula ons for value in use.
Tes ng of impairment is described also in the accoun ng principles
applied in the Consolidated Financial Statements under Impairment
of assets and Impairment tes ng.

14. FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
2020

2019

Shares

4

4

Investments at the end of the year

4

4

The fair value of publicly quoted investments in shares does not diﬀer
materially from their carrying amount.
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15. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Deferred tax assets

2020

2019

Changes

2020

2019

289

0

-9

0

96

0

777

0

Accounted in Proﬁt and Loss
Tangible assets

94

0

Intangibles

Tax asset for losses

338

0

Other

Employee beneﬁts

177

172

Provisions

91

0

Impairment of ﬁxed assets

51

9

113

0

4

5

868

185

Transac on costs of share issue
Other
Deferred tax assets total
Deduc on according to ne ng
principle
Net deferred tax assets
Changes

-124

-39

744

147

2020

2019

Accounted in Proﬁt and Loss
Tangible assets

12

0

Tax asset for losses

338

0

Employee beneﬁts

25

-29

Impairment of ﬁxed assets

46

25

-95

27

Export incen ve
Provisions
Other
Total

71

0

0

-1

397

22

Accounted in equity
Transac on costs of share issue

Deferred tax liabili es
Intangibles
Investments in subsidiaries
Export incen ve
Other
Net deferred tax liabili es
Deduc on according to ne ng
principle
Net deferred tax liabili es

113

0

113

0

2020

2019

777

0

96

0

124

39

9

0

1,006

39

-124

-39

881

0

Accounted in equity
Investments in subsidiaries
Acquisi on related
Intangibles

Deferred tax assets and liabili es are recognized for temporary
diﬀerences between the taxable values of assets and liabili es and their
book values according to the debt method.
Deferred tax is not recognized on non-deduc ble goodwill and retained
earnings of subsidiaries to the extent that the tax will not materialize in
the foreseeable future.
No deferred tax asset has been recognized for the accumulated loss in
the ﬁnancial year 2019. Due to the change in es mate in the ﬁnancial
year 2020 in parent company´s historical losses, total deferred tax assets
of EUR 0.34 million has been recognized in the income statement.
Deferred tax assets calcula ons are based on the parent company's
2021 budgeted taxable income. No other deferred tax assets for losses
have been recognized in accordance with the precau onary principle.
The parent company has conﬁrmed losses of EUR 9.0 million on
December 31, 2020. Deferred tax assets of the parent company of
remaining, approximately EUR 1.5 million has not been recognized in
the consolidated balance sheet. Approximately EUR 2.8 million of the
losses expired during the ﬁnancial year. The remaining conﬁrmed losses
expire in 2021-2025.
The Group has recognized a deferred tax liability of EUR 0.1 million
related to EUR 1.0 million internal dividend payment from India
budgeted in 2021. In other respects, no deferred tax liabili es have
been recognized from the subsidiaries' proﬁts.

16. INVENTORIES

Raw materials and supplies
Work in progress
Finished goods
Advance payments
Total

2020
16,823
4,768
1,211
1,375
24,176

2019
8,208
1,039
999
599
10,845

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade and other receivables –
non-current
Tax and other receivables from
authori es in Indian subsidiary

2020

2019

Not past due¹

2020

2019

17,041

6,984

93

102

Past due

Other non-current receivables

112

101

Less than 30 days

496

833

Total

205

203

30–60 days

2,285

107

61–90 days

707

324

Over 90 days

412

42

20,941

8,289

Trade and other receivables – current
Trade receivables
Loan receivables
Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Other receivables
Total

2020

2019

20,941

8,289

23

15

2,907

2,409

331

178

24,202

10,891

The fair value of receivables do not diﬀer from their book value and the
receivables do not involve signiﬁcant credit risks.

34

Aging structure of trade receivables and
items recorded as credit losses
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Total

¹ No signiﬁcant credit loss provisions were booked in the Group in 2020.
In 2019, a credit loss provision of EUR 168,032 was booked for overdue
trade receivables.
Distribu on of current
receivables by currency

2020

GBP

4,970

0

USD

11,672

5,400

INR

3,887

3,580

EUR

3,673

1,910

Total

24,202

10,891

2019

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2020

2019

Cash and bank accounts

3,899

6,163

Total

3,899

6,163

The cash and cash equivalents according to the cash ﬂow
statement comprise same items.

19. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Number of
shares

Equity

Total

31 Dec 2020

5,820,224

1,000

1,000

31 Dec 2019

4,365,168

1,000

1,000

Transac ons with owners

Invested unrestricted
equity fund

Retained
earnings

10,913

0

Investment in equity
Transac on costs

-563

0

113

0

0

32

10,463

32

Deferred tax
Personnel share-based incen ve
program-value of employee services

Total

In November 2020, Incap Corpora on carried out a rights issue oﬀering
1,455,056 shares. Board of Directors approved on November 18, 2020
shareholders primary subscrip ons made on the basis of the subscrip on
rights and the secondary subscrip ons in accordance with the terms of the
share issue. The shares have been paid in full.
The company received gross income of EUR 10,912,920 from the share
issue, which was booked in equity (invested unrestricted equity fund).

Other changes: Retained earnings
Revalua on of employee beneﬁts
Acquisi on related

2020

2019

-14

-34

59

0

Deferred tax liability for internal dividend
payment

-96

0

Total

-51

-34

20. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE PROGRAM 2020
Incap Corpora on's Board of Directors has resolved to implement a
long-term share-based incen ve scheme for the company's CEO, O o
Pukk. The incen ve scheme's purpose is to support Incap's strategy
and incen vize the CEO in the eﬀec ve implementa on of the postacquisi on integra on of AWS Electronics Group. The company has
not previously had a share-based incen ve scheme for CEO O o
Pukk. Any reward payable based on the incen ve scheme is paid out
en rely as Incap's new shares.
The earnings period for the CEO's incen ve scheme includes the
ongoing and next ﬁnancial period of the company so that it will end
on 31 December 2021. During the earnings period, the CEO may earn
a performance-based reward amoun ng up to 5,730 new shares of
the company based on the development of the company's EBIT
provided that the CEO is s ll in a service rela onship with the
Company at the date of the reward's payment. Possible reward based
on the incen ve scheme shall be paid a er the company's Annual
General Mee ng in 2022 has approved the company's annual
accounts for the ﬁnancial year 1 January 2021 – 31 December 2021.
The shares paid as reward shall not be transferred during a 12-month
lock-up period, which begins from the reward payment.

For the execu on of the incen ve scheme the company's Board of
Directors has resolved on the directed share issue to the CEO of the
company without considera on based on the authoriza on granted
to the company's Board of Directors on the issuance of shares by the
Annual General Mee ng of the company on 20 April 2020. The shares
are issued subject to mee ng the condi ons of the incen ve scheme.
Expenses from the share-based incen ve plan are recognized during
the earnings period and are presented as employee beneﬁts
expenses and retained earnings in equity. Expenses are based on the
maximum number of shares, ie 5,730 and the market value of EUR
14.75 according to May 26, 2020 has been used as a mul ple. If the
company decides a er the beginning of the performance period and
before paying the reward on issue of company's shares, or on issue
op on rights or other special rights en tled to company's shares so
that the shareholders have a pre-emp ve subscrip on right, the
amount of the reward shall be increased by mul plying the number
of earned shares by the share issue mul plier, or in a way resolved by
the Board.
The result for the ﬁnancial year from 26 May to 31 December 2020
includes the above-men oned expenses totaling EUR 31,784.36.
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21. PENSION LIABILITIES

22. RESTRUCTURING PROVISION AND OTHER PROVISIONS

The Group has both deﬁned-contribu on and deﬁned-beneﬁt pension
plans. Deﬁned-beneﬁt pension plans are only employed in the
subsidiary in India.
In deﬁned-beneﬁt pension plans, the amount of the pension beneﬁt at
the me of re rement is determined on the basis of certain factors,
such as salary and years of employment.
Deﬁned-beneﬁt pension liability in the
balance sheet is determined as follows
Present value of funded liabili es
Fair value of plan assets
Underfunding/overfunding

Expense provision
1 Jan 2020

51

Used provisions

-51

31 Dec 2020

0

1 Jan 2019
2020

2019

744

724

-385

-343

359

381

359

381

51

Used provisions

0

31 Dec 2019
51
Reserves of 31 December 2019 consist of the own risk for
unemployment insurance funding which has been recognized in Proﬁt
and Loss in 2020.

Amounts in the balance sheet:
Liability
Deﬁned-beneﬁt pension expenses
recognised in the income statement

23. INTEREST-BEARING AND NON-INTEREST
BEARING LIABILITIES
Non-current ﬁnancial liabili es measured at amor sed cost
2020

2020

2019

Pension costs based on ﬁnancial
period's service

39

36

Bank loans

Beneﬁt-related interest expense

48

48

Pension loans

Expected return on plan assets

-24

-21

Actuarial gains (+) and losses (-)

13

33

Total

76

96

Actual return on plan assets was EUR 24 thousand in 2020
(EUR 21 thousand in 2019).
Changes in the present value of
the deﬁned beneﬁt obliga on
Deﬁned beneﬁt obliga on at 1 Jan

2020

2019

644

608

Current service cost

39

36

Interest cost

48

48

Actuarial gains (+) and losses (-)

13

32

744

724

2020

2019

Fair value of plan assets at 1 Jan

305

261

Expected return on plan assets

24

21

Actuarial gains (+) and losses (-)
Contribu ons by employer

-1

-1

56

63

385

343

Deﬁned beneﬁt obliga on at 31 Dec
Changes in the fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at 31 December
Plan assets are comprised as follows:
Funds managed by insurer

2020

2019

385

343

Other liabili es

2019

2,425

235

303

318

3,375

1,780

6,103

2,333

Current ﬁnancial liabili es measured at amor sed cost
2020

2019

Bank loans

2,054

1,392

214

1,174

Other loans
Other liabili es

1,419

668

3,687

3,234

Forthcoming payable interest and instalments of loans
2020

2019

Less than 6 months¹

2,340

2,904

6–12 months

1,621

402

1–5 years

6,231

2,541

Over 5 years

0

0

10,192

5,847

The forthcoming instalments and interests have been calculated based
on the present eﬀec ve loan agreements.
¹ Includes India's current bank limit of EUR 1,173,859 and invoice
ﬁnancing of EUR 213,857 in Estonia and UK.

Distribu on of interest-bearing liabili es by currency, EUR
The principal actuarial
assump ons 31 Dec

2020

2019

Discount rate

6.40%

0

INR

429

553

EUR

7.00%

7.50%

10.0 %

10.0 %

2020

2019

2.77%

18.96%

Present value of deﬁned beneﬁt obliga on

744

724

Fair value of plan assets

385

343

Surplus (+) / deﬁcit (-)

359

381

Experience adjustments on plan liabili es

-30

6

-1

-1

Experience adjustments on plan assets

The Group expects to contribute the deﬁned beneﬁt plan pensions
EUR 0,06 million in 2021.
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2019

7.15%

Future salary increases

Change from previous year

2020
630

Expected return on plan assets

Amounts for the current and
previous two periods

Non-current liabili es
GBP

Asia

Current liabili es

5,044

1,780

6,103

2,333

2020

2019

GBP

423

0

USD

1,174

1,298

INR

180

94

EUR

1,910

1,842

3,687

3,234

24. PROVISIONS, TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2019

Non-current

Distribu on of non-interest-bearing
liabili es by currency, 1,000 EUR

2020

2019

Other liabili es

1,619

USD

7,191

2,133

2020
1,619

Current
Trade payables
Accrued liabili es
Short-term provisions
Other liabili es
Total

20,279
3,204

SEK

18

4

GBP

6,182

22
2

5,610

JPY

5

1,281

HKD

2

4

6,885

4,427

5,211

2,432

25,494

9,024

541

238

INR

1,469

276

EUR

25,494

7,405

27,113

9,024

Material items of accrued liabili es relate to discounts, re-debits, tax
and payroll expenses.

25. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS
The nature of the Incap Group's business exposes the company to
currency, interest rate, credit and liquidity risks. The objec ve of the
Group's ﬁnancial risk management policy is to minimize the adverse
eﬀects of changes in ﬁnancial markets on its result and cash ﬂow.
The company's ﬁnance administra on iden ﬁes and assesses the
risks, obtains the necessary instruments for hedging the risks and
reports to the President and CEO and the Board of Directors on
these risks and any changes in them. Hedging transac ons are
carried out in accordance with the principles approved by the
Group's Board of Directors. Currency forward contracts, currency
loans and interest rate swaps are used in risk management,
whenever necessary. The ﬁnancial structure of subsidiaries is
planned, assessed and controlled with a view to the management of
ﬁnancial risks.

CURRENCY RISKS
Because the Incap Group operates in the euro zone and Asia, the
company's business involves currency risk. In accordance with its risk
management policy, the company aims to hedge itself from currency
risks with currency op ons and currency forward contracts. In the
Estonian company, a part of material purchases are made in USD.
Signiﬁcant propor on of the purchases India, UK and Slovakia are
made in USD. The respec ve transac on posi on is taken into
considera on when calcula ng the company-speciﬁc posi on and is
hedged in accordance with the currency risk policy.
The short-term working capital ﬁnancing liabili es of the Indian
subsidiary are mainly USD-denominated, and the company
addi onally has an overdra facility denominated in the Indian
rupee. Incap uses the subsidiary's home currency (Indian rupee, INR)
in invoicing between the parent company and the subsidiary.
Therefore, exposure to transac on risk concerns almost completely
the Group's parent company and the foreign subsidiary is not
exposed to substan al transac on risk. The risk exposure of the
parent company's balance sheet is hedged with forward exchange
agreements and op ons when necessary.
In line with the Group's currency risk policy the euro-denominated
investment made in the subsidiary in India has not been hedged.
Parent company acquired in 2020 AWS Electronics Group and the
transac on was completed in Bri sh pounds which has not been
hedged. Therefore, ﬂuctua ons of Bri sh pound have an impact on
parent company's balance sheet. The currency exchange diﬀerences
arising from the investment are presented under exchange
diﬀerences in the Group's non-restricted equity. Strengthening of INR
exchange rate in rela on to EUR by 15% increases the Group's equity
by EUR 539,022 while weakening of INR exchange rate in rela on to
EUR by 15% decreases the Group's equity by EUR 729,265 compared
with the exchange diﬀerence at 31 December 2020.

INTEREST RATE RISK
At the balance sheet date, interest-bearing liabili es in the
consolidated balance sheet totalled EUR 9.8 million (EUR 5.6 million).
Out of the total interest-bearing liabili es, EUR 4.8 million is related
to the IFRS 16 Leases standard. Total EUR 0.0 million of the interestbearing liabili es have a ﬁxed rate. The weighted average dura on of
the interest-bearing non-current loan at the balance sheet date is
1.6 years. Bank overdra s and factoring limits have been treated as
bullet loans. The Group has not carried out special hedging measures
against interest rate risks during the ﬁnancial year.
The Group analyses its interest rate exposure by preparing calculaons of the deﬁned interest rate change on the company's result,
when needed. Calcula ons are made only for the loans that have the
largest impact on the overall interest rate exposure. A change of
+1%/-1% in the market interest rates of variable rate loans would
change the Group's annual interest rate expenses by EUR +/- 50
thousand at 31 December 2020.

CREDIT RISK
The principles and responsibili es of credit control are deﬁned in the
Group's documented opera ng methods. The Group has signiﬁcant
receivables from several large Finnish and global customers. These
customers are well-established, long-standing and creditworthy.
When a new customer rela onship is established, the company
assesses the annual volume generated by the new business, its share
in revenue and the customer's creditworthiness.
No credit losses were recorded during the ﬁnancial year (Yr 2019
EUR 0 thousand). Incap has not booked any material credit loss
provisions. During ﬁnancial period the Group has not renego ated
payment terms for receivables that would otherwise have been due
or that would have decreased in value. The aging structure of trade
receivables is presented in Note 17.

LIQUIDITY RISK
The Group con nuously evaluates and monitors the amount of
ﬁnancing required by business opera ons, so that it has suﬃcient
liquid funds to ﬁnance opera ons and repay due loans. The company
strives to ensure the availability and ﬂexibility of ﬁnancing by using
credit facili es and other forms of ﬁnancing. Incap's main sources of
ﬁnancing are cash ﬂow from opera ons, loans from ﬁnancial
ins tu ons and share issues.
The company's interest-bearing liabili es on 31 December 2020
amounted to EUR 9.8 million (5.6 million on 31 December 2019). Of
this amount, EUR 3.0 million is parent company´s bank loan and EUR
1.8 million out of it concerns the Indian subsidiary.
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Status of the company's ﬁnancing on 31 December 2020
Loans from credit ins tu ons

Balance on 31 Dec 2020

Balance on 31 Dec 2019

214

1,174

1. Factoring limit
3. Bank loan/account with credit facility in Finland

3,000

0

4. Bank loan/account with credit facility in India

1,479

1,627

Total

4,693

2,801

Other loans (tax provision)

1,619

1,619

Right-of-use asset liabili es

4,794

2,449

Other loans

Pension loans (India)
Total
All in total

In connec on with the new loan in 2020 the company has agreed
with the bank that the covenants related to the loans, credit line
and factoring credit line include equity ra o (more than 30.0%) and
the Group's interest-bearing debt in rela on to EBITDA (less than
3.0), which are reviewed every six months. Bank has the right to
terminate the agreement if the covenant terms are not sa sﬁed.
EBITDA is calculated for the rolling 12 months.
The company met the covenant on both dates 30.6.2020 and on 31
December 2020:
31 Dec 2020

30 Jun 2020

0,6

1,85

50,5

33,2

Interest bearing debt/EBITDA (<3,0)
Equity ra o (>30%)

Forthcoming instalments and interests are described in the Note 23.

359

381

6,772

4,448

11,465

7,249

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The aim of the Group's capital management ac vi es is to support
business opera ons with an op mal capital structure by ensuring
normal resources for opera ons and increasing shareholder value
with the goal of genera ng the best possible return. An op mal
capital structure also guarantees smaller costs of capital.
The trend in the Group's capital structure is constantly tracked with
net gearing. On 31 December 2020 the Group's interest-bearing
net debt was EUR 5.9 million (EUR -0,6 million at 31 Dec 2019) and
the net gearing was 15.3% (-2.7% at 31 Dec 2019). Net gearing is
calculated by dividing net debt by equity. Net debt equals liabili es
less interest-bearing receivables and cash and bank accounts. On
31 December 2020, the equity ra o was 50.5% (60.0% at 31 Dec
2019).

Based on the cash ﬂow es mate prepared in connec on with the
ﬁnancial statements, the company es mates that the company's
working capital will cover the requirement for the next 12 months.

26. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The fair value of current liabili es does not diﬀer from their book value.
Book value
2020

Fair value
2020

Book value
2019

Fair value
2019

Bank loans
Pension loans

4,693
359

4,693
359

2,801
381

2,801
381

Lease liabili es

4,794

4,794

2,449

2,449

2020

2019

2018

-

-

2.80 -10.50%

Financial liabili

The fair value of current liabili es do not diﬀer materially from their book value.
Discount rates used in fair value calcula ons

At the balance sheet date, the company has no ﬁnancial assets and liabili es at fair value through proﬁt or loss.

27. ADJUSTMENTS TO CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATIONS
2020
Non-cash transac ons

-97

4,109

1,374

Employee beneﬁts

18

-34

Gains (-) and losses (+) of disposals of
ﬁxed assets and other non-current assets

-6

-15

Deprecia on and write-downs

Write-down of inventory

0

38

Write-down of trade receivables

0

168

Other items recognized in equity

38

2019

-541

89

-4

3,667

1,431
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28. CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

1 Jan 2020

Cash ﬂow

Reclassiﬁed

Foreign
exchange
movements

Other

31 Dec 2020

Current interest-bearing loans and borrowings

2,629

-2,659

2

-91

0

2,444

2,324

Lease liabili es

2,449

-1,188

0

0

1,645

1,888

4,794

553

2,162

-2

-61

0

76

2,729

5,630

-1,685

0

-152

1,645

4,408

9,846

New lease
liabili es

Non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Total

New lease
liabili es

1 Jan 2019

Cash ﬂow

Reclassiﬁed

Foreign
exchange
movements

Other

31 Dec 2019

4,553

-2,087

106

56

0

0

2,629

0

-561

0

0

2,145

865

2,449

Non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings

1,000

-437

-106

-1

0

96

553

Total

5,554

-3,085

0

55

2,145

962

5,630

Current interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Lease liabili es

29. OPERATING LEASES

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITY, ASSETS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Group has leased produc on facili es in Estonia, the United
Kingdom and Slovakia, as well as oﬃce space in Helsinki, Tallinn,
Bangalore, Namestovo and Newcastle Under Lyme. Some leases that
expire on the due date include the op on to extend the lease beyond
the original expira on date. The index, renewal and other terms of the
agreements diﬀer from each other.
Other non-cancellable leases also include equipment leases that are not
classiﬁed The Group has leased produc on facili es in use in Estonia,
the United Kingdom and Slovakia, as well as in Helsinki, Tallinn, Oﬃce
space in Bangalore, Namestovo and Newcastle Under Lyme. Some
leases that expire on the due date include the op on to extend the
lease beyond the original expira on date. The index, renewal and other
terms of the agreements diﬀer.
Other non-cancellable leases also include equipment leases that are not
classiﬁed under IFRS ﬁnance leases.
Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable opera ng leases,
excluding value added tax.

2019
1,627

Mortgages

1,384

1,627

Business mortgages

20,113

12,113

In addi on, OP Corporate Bank Plc's credit line (max. EUR 3.0 million),
which is not in use as of 31 December 2020,
secured by a corporate mortgage.
Trade receivables with recourse right sold
to ﬁnance companies
Rent security deposit for Group oﬃce

214

1,174

3

0

582

727

Other liability

31. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

2020

2019

11

13

Management's employee beneﬁts

2020

2019

13

Salaries and other current
employee beneﬁts

614

459

Post-employment beneﬁt

27

24

Share-based payments

32

0

673

483

11
The income statement for 2020 includes EUR 0.0 million of lease
expenses paid for opera ng leases (EUR 0.0 million in 2019).
Expira on of lease liabili es

2020
4,384

Collateral given on behalf of own commitments

Other oﬀ balance sheet items

The Group as lessee

Less than one year

Bank loans with collaterals given

2020

2019

Lease liabili es – total of minimum
leasing costs

Total

During the year, as the company's President & CEO acted O o Pukk.
The pension beneﬁts of the CEO and other members of the
management team are determined in accordance with the Employment
Pensions Act (TyEL).

Less than one year

1,494

707

1-5 years

3,604

1,968

Wages and salaries

2020

2019

5,099

2,675

President and CEO

199

181

Carl-Gustaf von Troil

20

23

Päivi Jokinen

20

18

Members of the Board

Present value of minimum lease
liabili es
Less than one year

1,384

668

1-5 years

3,431

1,780

Ville Vuori

40

32

4,814

2,449

Kaisa Kokkonen

13

0

284

226

5,099

2,675

Internal interests expenses in the future
Total of lease liabili es

At the end of the ﬁnancial period of 2020, the members of the
Board and the President and CEO and their related par es held
a total of 55 638 shares, i.e. 1.0% of all shares and votes.
In October 2020, the company organised a rights issue and the lead
manager was United Bankers Plc. Carl-Gustaf von Troil, a member of the
company's Board of Directors, is a major shareholder in United Bankers
Plc. Carl-Gustaf von Troil did not par cipate in the lead manager
decision making.

32. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE PERIOD
There have been no signiﬁcant events a er the repor ng period.
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PARENT COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT
1 000 euros

Note

Revenue
Other opera ng income
Personnel expenses
Other opera ng expenses

1
2
3
4

Opera ng proﬁt/loss
Financial income and expenses

5

Proﬁt/loss before extraordinary items
Income taxes

6

Proﬁt/loss for the ﬁnancial year

1 Jan-31 Dec 2020

1 Jan-31 Dec 2019

2,959
51
238
1,056

2,517

1,715

1,562

982

1,097

2,698

2,659

265
691

-195
2,503

2,659

31 Dec 2020

31 Dec 2019

0

690

21,059
4
21,063

12,300
4
12,994

5,840
3,929
1,839
11,608

1,523
844
2,367

32,671

15,361

1,000
19,281
5,343
2,503
28,127

1,000
8,368
2,684
2,659
14,711

2,300
2,244
4,544

0
650
650

32,671

15,361

PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
1 000 euros

Note

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Tangible assets
Advance payments and work in process
Investments
Holdings in Group companies
Other investments
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current receivables
Current receivables
Cash in hand and at bank
Total current assets

7
8

9
9

Total assets
LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital
Unrestricted equity reserve
Retained earnings
Proﬁt for the ﬁnancial year
Total equity
Liabili es
Non-current liabili es
Current liabili es
Total liabili es

11
12

Total equity and liabili es

40

10
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PARENT COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT
1 000 euros

1 Jan-31 Dec 2020

1 Jan-31 Dec 2019

Cash ﬂow from opera ons
Opera ng proﬁt
Adjustments to opera ng proﬁt
Change in working capital
Interest paid
Dividends received
Interests
Taxes

1,715
-36
-1,225
-418
989
158
-99

1,562
1
343
-24
1,075
0
0

Cash ﬂow from opera ons

1,084

2,958

Cash ﬂows from inves ng ac vi es
Acquisi ons
Cash ﬂows from inves ng ac vi es

-6,729
-6,729

-690
-690

Cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing ac vi es
Share issue
Share issue transac on costs
Granted loans
Repayment of loan receivables
Withdrawal of long term loan

10,913
-563
-7,408
700
13,000

0
0
0
0
0

Repayment of non-current loans
Cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing ac vi es

-10,000
6,642

-1,436
-1,436

-1

0

996
844
1,839

833
11
844

-834
-391
-1,225

-60
404
343

Exchange rate change in cash and cash equivalents
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the ﬁnancial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the ﬁnancial year
Change in working capital
Change in current trade receivables
Change in current liabili es
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„

In the longer term, the
growth in Electronics
Manufacturing Services is
driven by the growing use
of electronics supported
with megatrends such as
digitalisation.

PARENT COMPANY
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
PRINCIPLES OF MEASUREMENT AND PERIODISATION
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Non-current tangible and intangible assets are recorded in the
balance sheet at historical cost less deprecia on according to plan
and amor sa on. Investment grants received have been entered
as a credit to the respec ve asset item. Deprecia on according to
plan has been calculated according to the straight-line method on
the basis of the useful life of the assets.

Intangible assets

l Goodwill
5–6 years
l Other intangible rights 3–5 years

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES
The value of subsidiaries in the parent group is the acquisition
cost plus subsequent investments to strengthen the equity of the
subsidiaries. The value of the shares has a significant impact on
the parent company's equity and therefore for example on equity
ratio.

pilt

The impairment testing of shares in subsidiaries has been carried
out on the basis of the situation at the end of December 2020.
The recoverable amounts are determined in calculations on the
basis of the value in use, and the preparation of these calculations requires the use of judgement.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS
Trade receivables and payables are not exposed to signiﬁcant
interest rate or foreign currency risks.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS
Items denominated in foreign currency have been translated at
the average rate stated by the European Central Bank at the
balance sheet date. Exchange diﬀerences between sales and
purchases have been allocated as a credit or debit to respec ve
items.

LEASES
In the parent company's ﬁnancial statements, lease payments for
property, plant and equipment obtained on a ﬁnance lease are
included as lease expenses in other opera ng expenses.

PERIODISATION OF PENSION EXPENSES
Employees' pension security including supplementary beneﬁts
has been insured with pension insurance companies. Pension
expenses are recognised as an expense during their year of
accrual.
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Notes to the parent company ﬁnancial statements.
The ﬁnancial statements have been compiled in accordance
with Chapter 2 of the Accoun ng Act.
1. REVENUE

5. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

Revenue by market area
Finland
Europe
Other

2020

2019

0

0

398

263

2,561

2,254

2,959

2,517

2. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2020

2019

1,948

1,075

0

0

From Group companies

204

40

From other companies

129

1

Dividend income
From Group companies
From other companies
Other interest and ﬁnancial income

Interest paid and other ﬁnancial expenses
To other companies
2020

Unrealized unemployment security
deduc ble

2019

51

0

51

0

3. PERSONNELL EXPENSES AND NUMBER OF PERSONNEL
2019

1

2

Wages and salaries

247

263

Pension expenses

-13

-2

5

3

238

265

93

99

Average number of employees
Personnel expenses

Other social security expenses

93

99

1,097

2020

2019

195

0

The parent company's conﬁrmed tax losses amount to EUR 9.0 million
on 31 December 2020. The parent company's deferred tax assets
amount to approximately EUR 1.8 million and none of it has been recorded in the parent company´s consolidated balance sheet. Out of the
conﬁrmed tax losses, EUR 2.8 million expired during the ﬁnancial period.
Remaining conﬁrmed tax losses will expire in years 2021–2025.

7. INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE ASSETS
Tangible assets

Salaries and bonus of the management
CEO and the Board

19

982

6. INCOME TAX

Withholding tax

2020

1,299

Acquisi on cost 1 Jan 2020

Advanced
payments and
work in process

Total

690

690

-690

-690

0

0

Book value 31 Dec 2020

690

690

Book value 31 Dec 2020

0

0

Advanced
payments and
work in process

Total

Reclassiﬁca ons between items
Acquisi on cost 31 Dec 2020

4. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
2020

2019

Lease payments

29

31

Maintenance expenses for machinery
and proper es

22

18

1,006

642

1,056

691

Other expenses
Auditors fees
Authorised Public Accountant Firm EY

69

Tax advice
Other services

44

52

Tangible assets

Acquisi on cost 1 Jan 2019

0

0

Addi ons

690

690

Acquisi on cost 31 Dec 2019

690

690

1
88

2

157

55

Book value 1 Jan 2019
Book value 31 Dec 2019
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0

0

690

690

8. SHARES

Acquisi on cost, 1 Jan
Addi ons
Reclassiﬁca on between items

Shares in
subsidiaries

Receivables from
Group companies

12,300

4

Total
12,304

8,069

0

8,069

690

0

690

Acquisi on cost, 31 Dec

21,059

4

21,063

Book value, 31 Dec 2020

21,059

4

21,063

Book value, 31 Dec 2019

12,300

4

12,304

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 31 DECEMBER 2020
The Group's equity at the close of the ﬁnancial period was EUR
38.6 million (EUR 21.9 million in 2019) and the parent company's
equity was EUR 28.1 million (EUR 14.7 million in 2019).
The value of shares in subsidiaries in the parent company is the
acquisi on cost plus subsequent investments to strengthen the
equity of the subsidiaries. In the ﬁnancial statements of the
parent company, the value of the Indian subsidiary's shares in the
balance sheet is approximately EUR 8.2 million, the value of the
Estonian subsidiary approximately EUR 4.1 million and the value
of the UK subsidiary approximately EUR 8.8 million. The value of
the shares in subsidiaries has a signiﬁcant impact on the parent
company's equity and accordingly on equity ra o, among others.
The impairment tes ng of subsidiaries has been carried out based
on the situa on at the close of the ﬁnancial period 2020. The
recoverable amounts used in the impairment test calcula ons are
determined on the basis of use value.
The cash ﬂow forecasts are based on the budget for next ﬁnancial
period and the business plan prepared for the four forthcoming
years by the management and approved by the Board. In cash
ﬂow es mates, the revenue in India is es mated to grow by 8%
annually and EBIT is approximately 13%. In cash ﬂow es mates,

the revenue in Estonia is es mated to grow by 3.5% annually and
EBIT is 5%. In cash ﬂow es mates, the revenue in AWS Electronics
Group which was acquired in January 2020 is es mated to grow
by 6% annually and EBIT is 5%. The residual value is es mated to
grow by 2%.
The discount rate is comprised of industry risk, interest on
liabili es and country-speciﬁc risk. The discount rate factors are
updated annually in connec on with the tes ng using informa on
received from the market. In the calcula ons for the ﬁnancial
period 2020, the discount rate of 12.57% has been used in India,
9.28% in Estonia and 12.94% in AWS Electronics Group.
Should the EBIT used in the tes ng decrease by approximately
55% in India, 36% in Estonia or 12% in AWS Electronics Group , or
should the discount rate increase by less than 3.9 percentage
points in Estonia, 89 percentage points in India or 1.5% in AWS
Electronics Group, there would be no need for write-down of
shares.
The proﬁtability of the Indian subsidiary is at a good level, thus
there is no need for write-down of shares nor the risk. 62% of the
Estonian subsidiary valua on consists of residual value.

GROUP COMPANIES
l Incap Electronics Estonia OÜ, Kuressaare, Estonia
l Incap Contract Manufacturing Services Pvt. Ltd., Bangalore,
India
l Incap Holdings UK Ltd, Newcastle-under-Lyme, UK
l Incap Electronics Group Ltd, Newcastle-under-Lyme, UK
l Incap Electronics UK Ltd, Newcastle-under-Lyme, UK
l Incap Electronics Slovakia, Namestovo, Slovakia

l Euro-ketju Oy, Helsinki, Finland (dormant)
l Incap Hong Kong Limited, Hong Kong
Incap Corpora on owns 100% of group companies and all
companies are combined in the parent company consolidated
ﬁnancial statements.
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9. RECEIVABLES

12. CURRENT LIABILITIES
2020

2019

2020

Current

Loans from credit ins tu ons

Amount owed by Group companies

Trade payables

Loan receivables

5,840

2019

700

0

67

91

43
43

22
22

0
Amount owed to Group companies

Non-current

Trade payables

Amount owed by Group companies
Trade receivables
Interest receivables
Other receivables

Other receivables
Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Total receivables

1,110

571

195

145

Other liabili es

2,569

745

Accruals and deferred income

3,874

1,460

40

1,246

8

188

529

Total liabili es

2,244

650

52

Total interest-bearing liabili es

3,000

0

15

12

9,768

1,523

Material items in accruals and deferred
income
50

33

Wages and salaries, incl. social costs
Interest
Expense reserve
Withholding tax

10. EQUITY

Share capital, 1 Jan

2020

2019

1,000

1,000

Other

6

0

0
96

463
0

36

33

188

529

Share capital, 31 Dec

1,000

1,000

Total restricted equity

1,000

1,000

Earn-out payment related to AWS
Electronics Group acquisi on

567

0

8,368

AWS Electronics Group purchase price
paid in shares

667

0

12

8

1,246

8

2020

2019

Unrestricted equity reserve 1 Jan

8,368

Other current liabili es

Share issue

10,913

Unrestricted equity reserve 31 Dec

19,281

8,368

Retained earnings, 1 Jan

5,343

2,684

Retained earnings, 31 Dec

5,343

2,684

Proﬁt for the ﬁnancial year

2,503

2,659

Total non-restricted equity

27,127

13,711

13. OTHER NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Total equity

28,127

14,711

Collateral
Loans for which real-estate has been
mortgaged as collateral

Distributable funds according to the
Companies Act, Chapter 13, § 5
Unrestricted equity reserve

Loans from credit ins tu ons
19,281

8,368

Retained earnings

5,343

2,684

Proﬁt/loss for the ﬁnancial year

2,503

2,659

27,127

13,711

Total distributable funds

Others

Mortgages

3,000

0

20,113

12,113

In addi on, OP Corporate Bank Plc's credit line (max. EUR 3.0 million),
which is not in use as of 31 December 2020,
secured by a corporate mortgage.
Loans for which business mortgages have
been given as collateral
Rental guarantee

11. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loans from credit ins tu ons
All liabili es are falling due within ﬁve years.
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Guarantee on recourse right of trade
receivables
2020

2019

2,300

0

Con ngent and other liabili es

2,300

0

Lease liabili es, net of VAT
Liabili es falling due next
ﬁnancial year
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2,637

2,606

10

1,174

11

11

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’
PROPOSAL ON MEASURES
RELATED TO THE RESULT
The parent company’s proﬁt for the ﬁnancial period
totalled eur 2,502,977.11.
The Board will propose to the Annual General Mee ng on 27
April 2021 that no dividend will be paid from the proﬁts of the
ﬁnancial year 2020 and that the proﬁt for the ﬁnancial period be
recognised in equity.

Helsinki, 24 March 2021

Ville Vuori
Chairman of the Board
Carl-Gustaf von Troil
Board Member
Päivi Jokinen
Board Member
Kaisa Kokkonen
Board Member
O o Pukk
President and CEO
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„

Incap oﬀers state-of-theart technology backed up by
an entrepreneurial culture
and highly qualiﬁed
personnel.

AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Annual General Mee ng of Incap Oyj

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OPINION
We have audited the ﬁnancial statements of Incap Oyj (business
iden ty code 0608849-6) for the year ended 31 December, 2020.
The ﬁnancial statements comprise the consolidated balance
sheet, income statement, statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity, statement of cash ﬂows and
notes, including a summary of signiﬁcant accoun ng policies, as
well as the parent company's balance sheet, income statement,
statement of cash ﬂows and notes.
In our opinion
l the consolidated ﬁnancial statements give a true and fair
view of the group's ﬁnancial posi on as well as its ﬁnancial

performance and its cash ﬂows in accordance with
Interna onal Financial Repor ng Standards (IFRS) as adopted
by the EU.
l the ﬁnancial statements give a true and fair view of the
parent company's ﬁnancial performance and ﬁnancial
posi on in accordance with the laws and regula ons
governing the prepara on of ﬁnancial statements in Finland
and comply with statutory requirements.
Our opinion is consistent with the addi onal report submi ed to
the Board of Directors.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with good audi ng
prac ce in Finland. Our responsibili es under good audi ng
prac ce are further described in the Auditor's Responsibili es for
the Audit of the Financial Statements sec on of our report.
We are independent of the parent company and of the group
companies in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
applicable in Finland and are relevant to our audit, and we have
fulﬁlled our other ethical responsibili es in accordance with these
requirements.
In our best knowledge and understanding, the non-audit services

that we have provided to the parent company and group
companies are in compliance with laws and regula ons applicable
in Finland regarding these services, and we have not provided any
prohibited non-audit services referred to in Ar cle 5(1) of
regula on (EU) 537/2014. The non-audit services that we have
provided have been disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements and in note 4 to the parent company's
ﬁnancial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suﬃcient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit ma ers are those ma ers that, in our professional
judgment, were of most signiﬁcance in our audit of the ﬁnancial
statements of the current period. These ma ers were addressed
in the context of our audit of the ﬁnancial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these ma ers.
We have fulﬁlled the responsibili es described in the Auditor's
responsibili es for the audit of the ﬁnancial statements sec on of
our report, including in rela on to these ma ers. Accordingly, our
audit included the performance of procedures designed to

respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the ﬁnancial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the ma ers
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying ﬁnancial statements.
We have also addressed the risk of management override of
internal controls. This includes considera on of whether there
was evidence of management bias that represented a risk of
material misstatement due to fraud.
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Key Audit Ma er

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Ma er

Revenue recogni on
We refer to the Group's accoun ng policies and the note 3
The Group's business consists of contract manufacturing of
electronics in the Group's factories. Revenues from the sale of
goods is recognized when the customer obtains control of goods
at a point in me.
Revenue recogni on was determined to be a key audit ma er
and a signiﬁcant risk of material misstatement referred to in EU
Regula on No 537/2014, point (c) of Ar cle 10 (2) due to the risk
associated with the mely and accurate recogni on of the
revenue.

Our audit procedures to address the risk of material
misstatement in respect of correct ming of revenue recogni on
included among others the review of the Group's accoun ng
policies over revenue recogni on and comparison to IFRS
standards. We tested Group's internal controls, where applicable,
over proper ming and amount of revenue recognized. We
examined Group's sales contracts throughout the ﬁnancial year
and in connec on with the year-end audit. We tested the proper
ming of revenue recogni on at year-end.
We evaluated the disclosures in respect of revenue.

Inventory valua on
We refer to the Group's accoun ng policies and the note 16
The value of inventories at 31 December 2020 was 24 million
euros comprising 32 % of total assets. Inventory valua on was
determined to be a key audit ma er and a signiﬁcant risk of
material misstatement referred to in EU Regula on No 537/2014,
point (c) of Ar cle 10(2) because the valua on of inventory
involves the use of management judgement related to the risk of
obsolescence inventory and because the value of inventories is
signiﬁcant to the ﬁnancial statements.

Our audit procedures to address the risk of material
misstatement in respect of inventory valua on included
evalua on of the processes related to valua on of inventories.
We compared the inventory valua on principles to IFRS
standards. We tested the valua on of inventories on a sample
basis at year-end. In our audit procedures to address the risk of
obsolete inventory, we evaluated and tested management's
assump ons and calcula ons related to valua on. We evaluated
the disclosures in respect of inventory.

Acquisi on of AWS Electronics Group and valua on of goodwill
arising from the acquisi on
We refer to the Group's accoun ng policies and notes 2 and 13 to
the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
In January 2020, the company acquired AWS Electronics Group
for a debt-free purchase price of 15.9 million euros, and an
addi onal purchase price of 0.6 million euros was recorded. The
acquisi on was a key audit ma er due to the valua on processes
and methods related to the acquisi on and the assessments
made by the management. Management's es mates focused in
par cular on determining the fair values of acquired assets and
liabili es and alloca ng the purchase price to inventories and
separately iden ﬁable intangible assets such as customer
rela onships.
At the balance sheet date, 31 December 2020, the amount of
goodwill arising from the acquisi on of AWS Electronics Group
was 6.2 million euros comprising 8 % of total assets and 16 % of
equity. The valua on of goodwill was a key audit ma er because
l goodwill impairment tes ng is complex and involves
judgements,
l impairment tes ng is based on future market and economic
growth assump ons; and
l the goodwill is material to the ﬁnancial statements.
The recoverable amount of the Group's cash-genera ng units has
been determined based on value in use calcula ons, the result of
which may vary signiﬁcantly as the assump ons included in the
calcula ons change. The determina on of value in use is aﬀected
by several assump ons, such as revenue growth, EBITDA and the
discount rate used in discoun ng cash ﬂows.
Changes in these assump ons may result in impairment of
goodwill.
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In connec on with the alloca on of the purchase price and in the
repor ng of the acquisi on, we performed the following audit
procedures among others:
l we evaluated the company's accoun ng principles in rela on
to the business combina on accoun ng standard;
l with the assistance of our valua on experts, we evaluated
the company's valua on processes and methods by which
the company iden ﬁed the acquired assets and liabili es and
determined their fair values;
l we evaluated the notes related to acquisi ons.
As part of our audit procedures related goodwill, we u lized our
valua on experts to assist us in assessing the appropriateness of
the assump ons and methods used by management.
Our procedures included par cularly a comparison of the
assump ons used by management with informa on obtained
from external data sources and our own expecta ons regarding
the average cost of capital used in discoun ng cash ﬂows.
In addi on, we tested the appropriateness of the calcula ons
made by management and the future projec ons with the budget
approved by the Board. We also compared the results of goodwill
impairment tests with the company's market value.
In addi on, we assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
presented in note 13, such as the sensi vity analysis, and
whether somewhat possible change in the key assump on could
result in impairment of goodwill.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE MANAGING DIRECTOR FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible
for the prepara on of consolidated ﬁnancial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Interna onal Financial
Repor ng Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and of ﬁnancial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the
laws and regula ons governing the prepara on of ﬁnancial
statements in Finland and comply with statutory requirements. The
Board of Directors and the Managing Director are also responsible
for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable
the prepara on of ﬁnancial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the ﬁnancial statements, the Board of Directors and
the Managing Director are responsible for assessing the parent
company's and the group's ability to con nue as going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, ma ers rela ng to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accoun ng. The ﬁnancial
statements are prepared using the going concern basis of
accoun ng unless there is an inten on to liquidate the parent
company or the group or cease opera ons, or there is no realis c
alterna ve but to do so.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objec ves are to obtain reasonable assurance on whether
the ﬁnancial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with good audi ng prac ce will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
inﬂuence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
the ﬁnancial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with good audi ng prac ce, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skep cism throughout the audit. We also:
l Iden fy and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
ﬁnancial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is suﬃcient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detec ng a
material misstatement resul ng from fraud is higher than for
one resul ng from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, inten onal omissions, misrepresenta ons, or the
override of internal control.
l Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the eﬀec veness of the parent company's or
the group's internal control.
l Evaluate the appropriateness of accoun ng policies used and
the reasonableness of accoun ng es mates and related
disclosures made by management.
l Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors'
and the Managing Director's use of the going concern basis of
accoun ng and based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
condi ons that may cast signiﬁcant doubt on the parent
company's or the group's ability to con nue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw a en on in our auditor's report to the

related disclosures in the ﬁnancial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
condi ons may cause the parent company or the group to
cease to con nue as a going concern.
l Evaluate the overall presenta on, structure and content of
the ﬁnancial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the ﬁnancial statements represent the underlying
transac ons and events so that the ﬁnancial statements give
a true and fair view.
l Obtain suﬃcient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
ﬁnancial informa on of the en es or business ac vi es
within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements. We are responsible for the direc on,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other ma ers, the planned scope and ming of the audit
and signiﬁcant audit ﬁndings, including any signiﬁcant
deﬁciencies in internal control that we iden fy during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and communicate with them all
rela onships and other ma ers that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
From the ma ers communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those ma ers that were of most
signiﬁcance in the audit of the ﬁnancial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit ma ers. We describe
these ma ers in our auditor's report unless law or regula on
precludes public disclosure about the ma er or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a ma er should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest beneﬁts of such communica on.
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OTHER REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
INFORMATION ON OUR AUDIT ENGAGEMENT
We were ﬁrst appointed as auditors by the Annual General
Mee ng on 21 March 2002 and our appointment represents a
total period of uninterrupted engagement of 19 years.

OTHER INFORMATION
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible
for the other informa on. The other informa on comprises the
report of the Board of Directors and the informa on included in
the Annual Report, but does not include the ﬁnancial statements
and our auditor's report thereon. We have obtained the report of
the Board of Directors prior to the date of this auditor's report,
and the Annual Report is expected to be made available to us
a er that date.
Our opinion on the ﬁnancial statements does not cover the other
informa on.
In connec on with our audit of the ﬁnancial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other informa on iden ﬁed above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other informa on is
materially inconsistent with the ﬁnancial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. With respect to report of the Board of
Directors, our responsibility also includes considering whether
the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in
accordance with the applicable laws and regula ons.
In our opinion, the informa on in the report of the Board of
Directors is consistent with the informa on in the ﬁnancial
statements and the report of the Board of Directors has been
prepared in accordance with the applicable laws and regula ons.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other
informa on that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other informa on, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.
In Helsinki 25th of March, 2021
Ernst & Young Oy
Authorized Public Accountant Firm
Bengt Nyholm
Authorized Public Accountant
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In 2020, market
activity continued on
a good level despite
the pandemic.

FIVE-YEAR KEY FIGURES
IFRS
Revenue
Growth/change
Opera ng proﬁt/loss

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016*

EUR million

106.5

71.0

59.0

48.5

38.6

%

50

20

21

26

26

EUR million

12.6

10.1

8.6

4.5

3.8

%

11.8

14.2

14.6

9.4

9.8

EUR million

11.5

9.7

7.9

4.0

3.2

Share of revenue

%

10.8

13.6

13.5

8.2

8.3

Return on equity (ROE)

%

30.5

33.4

44.7

34.2

31.3

Return on investment (ROI)

%

34.8

43.4

46.8

28.4

26.0

Total assets

EUR million

76.4

36.5

32.1

24.8

21.1

Equity ra o

%

50.5

60.0

49.1

42.0

37.6

Net gearing

%

15.3

-2.7

16.6

41.9

71.0

EUR million

Share of revenue
Proﬁt/loss before tax

5.9

-0.6

2.6

4.4

5.6

Quick ra o

Interest-bearing net debt

1.0

1.6

1.0

1.0

1.1

Current ra o

1.8

2.6

1.8

1.6

1.7

Investments

EUR million

9.5

1.1

2.2

0.7

1.0

Share of revenue

%

8.9

1.6

3.7

1.4

2.5

R&D expenditure

EUR million

0

0

0

0

0

Share of revenue

%

0

0

0

0

0

Average number of employees

1,424

830

684

535

511

EUR million¹

0

0

0

0

0

Earnings per share

EUR²

2.02

1.44

1.34

0.72

0.49

Equity per share

EUR²

6.59

5.01

3.61

2.39

1.82

Dividend per share

EUR²

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

Dividend out of proﬁt

%¹

0

0

0

0

0

Eﬀec ve dividend yield

%¹

0

0

0

0

0

9.1

11.8

5.4

8.6

11.2

Dividends
Per-share data

P/E ra o
Trend in share price
Minimum price during year

EUR

8.51

7.18

5.60

5.25

4.95

Maximum price during year

EUR

19.20

23.00

8.22

7.20

8.65

Average price during year

EUR

13.92

14.83

6.02

5.93

6.43

Closing price at end of year

EUR

18.45

16.90

7.26

6.19

5.46

Total market capitalisa on at 31 Dec

EUR million

107.4

73.8

31.7

27.0

23.8

Trade volume

no. of shares

1,911,231

1,564,055

2,891,606

2,009,629

40,565,856

Trade volume

%

33

36

66

46

929

Average during the ﬁnancial period³

4,565,015

4,365,168

4,365,168

4,365,168

4,365,168

In the end of ﬁnancial period³

5,856,398

4,365,168

4,365,168

4,365,168

4,365,168

¹ The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Mee ng that no dividend be paid out.
² In 2020, the number of shares increased due to the purchase price to be paid in shares related to the acquisi on of AWS and the rights issue in
November. In accordance with the resolu on of the Annual General Mee ng, the quan ty of the company´s shares was reduced during the ﬁnancial
period 2016 so that each of previous 50 shares correspond to one share of the company. In prac c, the number of shares was divided by 50.
Comparison periods have adjusted accordingly.
³ Share issue-adjusted number of shares, each of previous 50 shares correspond to one share from 2016. In 2020, adjusted number of shares takes into
account the purchase price to be paid in shares in connec on with the acquisi on of AWS and the rights issue completed in November.
* The 2016 key ﬁgures have been adjusted to reﬂect the adjusted result and the corresponding balance sheet.
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„

All of Incap Group's
business units have
environmental management
and quality assurance
systems.

DEFINITIONS OF KEY FIGURES
Return on equity, %

=

100 x proﬁt/loss for the period
average equity during the ﬁnancial period

Return on investment, %

=

100 x (proﬁt/loss + ﬁnancial expenses + taxes)
equity + interest-bearing ﬁnancing loans

Equity ra o, %

=

100 x equity
balance sheet total - advances received

Net gearing, %

=

100 x net debt
equity

Net debt

=

Interest-bearing debt - cash and bank accounts

Quick ra o

=

current assets
short-term liabili es - short-term advances received

Current ra o

=

current assets + inventories
short-term liabili es

Investments

=

VAT-exclusive working capital acquisi ons,
without deduc on of investment subsidies

Average number of employees

=

average of personnel numbers at the end of each month

Earnings per share

=

net proﬁt/loss for the period
average number of shares during the period, adjusted for share issues

Equity per share

=

equity
number of shares at the end of the period, adjusted for share issues

Dividend per share

=

dividend during ﬁnancial year
number of dividend-earning shares at end of period, adjusted
for share issue

Dividend out of proﬁt, %

=

100 x dividend per share
earnings per share

Eﬀec ve dividend yield, %

=

100 x dividend per share
closing price at balance sheet date

Price per earnings (P/E) ra o

=

closing price at balance sheet date
earnings per share

Total market capitalisa on

=

closing price for the period x number of
shares available for public trading

PER-SHARE DATA
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RECONCILIATION OF ALTERNATIVE
PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Return on investment, %
(EUR thousands)
Net proﬁt/loss for the period
Financial expenses
Income taxes
Proﬁt/loss for the period
Equity
Non-current interest-bearing ﬁnancing loans
Current interest-bearing ﬁnancing loans
Capital invested
Capital employed average at the end of the repor ng period
and the end of previous ﬁnancial year
Return on investment, %

2020

2019

2018

9,218
1,678
2,290
13,187
38,580
6,103
3,687
48,371

6,274
896
3,390
10,559
21,883
2,333
3,234
27,451

5,847
1,160
2,094
9,101
15,738
1,000
4,503
21,241

37,911
34.8

24,346
43.4

19,441
46.8

2020

2019

2018

9,218
38,580

6,274
21,883

5,847
15,738

30,232
30.5

18,811
33.4

13,076
44.7

2020

2019

2018

38,580
76,365
50.5

21,883
36,475
60.0

15,738
32,080
49.1

2020

2019

2018

5,891
38,580
15.3

-596
21,883
-2.7

2,610
15,738
16.6

2020

2019

2018

6,103
3,687
9,791
-3,899
5,891

2,333
3,234
5,567
-6,163
-596

1,000
4,503
5,503
-2,894
2,610

2020

2019

2018

24,202
3,899
28,101

10,891
6,163
17,054

11,757
2,894
14,650

Return on equity, %
(EUR thousands)
Net proﬁt/loss for the period
Equity
Equity average at the end of the repor ng period
and the end of previous ﬁnancial year
Return on equity, %

Equity ra o, %
(EUR thousands)
Equity
Balance sheet total
Equity ra o, %

Net gearing, %
(EUR thousands)
Interest-bearing net debt
Equity
Net gearing, %

Interest-bearing net debt
(EUR thousands)
Non-current interest-bearing ﬁnancing loans
Current interest-bearing ﬁnancing loans
Interest-bearing debt
Cash and bank accounts
Interest-bearing net debt

Current assets
(EUR thousands)
Current receivables
Cash and bank accounts
Current assets
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Quick ra o
(EUR thousands)

2020

2019

2018

28,101
29,181
29,181
1.0

17,054
10,639
10,639
1.6

14,650
14,874
14,874
1.0

2020

2019

2018

28,101
24,176
29,181
29,181
1.8

17,054
10,845
10,639
10,639
2.6

14,650
11,647
14,874
14,874
1.8

(EUR thousands)

2020

2019

2018

Capital expenditure on tangible and intangible assets
Investments

9,471
9,471

1,123
1,123

2,199
2,199

2020

2019

2018

12,594
74
1,906
14,573

10,086
690
0
10,776

8,633
0
0
8,633

Current assets
Trade and other payables
Current liabili es
Quick ra o

Current ra o
(EUR thousands)
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other payables
Current liabili es
Current ra o

Investments

Adjusted opera ng proﬁt
(EUR thousands)
Opera ng proﬁt
Non-recurring costs
Purchase price alloca on (PPA) amor sa on
Adjusted opera ng proﬁt

CALCULATION OF ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Alterna ve
performance measure
Return on investment, % =

Return on equity, % =

Equity ra o, % =

Net gearing, % =

Interest-bearing net debt =

Current assets =

Quick ra o =

Current ra o =

Investments =

Adjusted opera ng proﬁt =

Calcula on
100 x (Net proﬁt/loss + ﬁnancial expenses + taxes)

(Equity + interest-bearing debt (average at the end of the
repor ng period and the end of previous ﬁnancial year))
100 x Net proﬁt/loss

Equity (average at the end of the repor ng period and
the end of previous ﬁnancial year)
100 x Equity

Balance sheet total - advances received
100 x Net debt

Purpose
The measure provides informa on
on return on investment.
The measure provides informa on
on return on equity.
The measure indicates how much of the
Group's assets have been ﬁnanced with debt.

Equity

The measure indicates the Group's
indebtedness.

Interest-bearing debt – cash and bank accounts

The measure indicates the total amount
of the Group's external debt funding.

Current receivables + cash and bank accounts

The component used for calcula ng Quick ra o
illustrates the assets required for covering the
Group's current expenses.

Current assets
Short-term liabili es – short-term advances received
Current assets + inventories

The measure provides informa on on
the company's liquidity

Short-term liabili es

The measure provides informa on on the
company's liquidity

VAT-exclusive working capital aqcuisi ons without
deduc on of investment subsidies

The measure provides informa on on the amount
of investments recorded in the Group's balance sheet.

Opera ng proﬁt before non-recurring costs and
purchase price alloca on (PPA) amor sa on

The measure indicates opera ng proﬁt
less expenses related to the acquisi on.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
VILLE VUORI
Chairman of the Board as from 15 April 2019
B.Sc. (Eng.), eMBA, born 1973
A non-execu ve director, who is independent of the company's major shareholders.
CEO of Kemppi Oy. Ville Vuori has acted as President and CEO of Incap Group during 2014-2017.
Before that he worked at Kumera Drives Oy and Skyhow Ltd. as Managing Director and at ABB Group
in several managerial posi ons.
Board member as from 17 April 2018.
Incap shares (direct ownership and holding of interest par es): –
Op ons: –

PÄIVI JOKINEN
Board member
M. Sc. (Econ), born 1968
A non-execu ve director, who is independent of the company and its major shareholders.
Päivi Jokinen has worked in various leadership posi ons in interna onal business. Prior to assuming
the posi on as Chairwoman of the Board at European Women on Boards, she worked as Vice
President at Stora Enso Consumer Board Division. Before that she has worked as member of the
Management team at Kemira and Interna onal Paper Europe, among others. Päivi has solid
experience in innova on leadership, strategic planning, sales, marke ng and communica ons. She
is also member of the board at Board professionals Finland ry and member of the Advisory Council
of the private equity company Bocap.
Board member as from 17 April 2018.
Incap shares (direct ownership and holding of interest par es): –
Op ons: –

CARL-GUSTAF VON TROIL
Board member
B.Sc. (Eng.), born 1954
A non-execu ve director, who is independent of the company and its major shareholders.
Carl-Gustaf von Troil is a member of the Board at United Bankers and acts as a partner and asset
manager at UB Wealth management. He has acted as Managing Director and Board member in
several companies in banking, investment and property businesses. He is a member of the board
at Oy Kon no Ab and in several companies in the United Bankers Group.
Board member as from 31 March 2015. Chairman of the Board 17 April 2018 – 15 April 2019.
Board member since 15 April 2019.
Incap shares (direct ownership and holding of interest pares): 54,138 pcs

KAISA KOKKONEN
Board member
M. Sc. (Econ.), HT-auditor, CBM, born 1962
A non-execu ve director, who is independent of the company and its major shareholders.
Kaisa Kokkonen is a ﬁnance professional and founder of Akeba Oy established in 2011. Earlier, she has
worked as e.g. CFO at Talentum Oyj and Director of Finance at Hackman Oyj. She has extensive
experience in ﬁnancial management, corporate governance as well as mergers and acquisi ons. She was
also a member of the Board of The Finnish Business School Graduates 2015-2020.
Board member since 20 April 2020.
Incap shares (direct ownership and holding of interest par es): 1,500 pcs
Op ons: –
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MANAGEMENT TEAM

OTTO PUKK
President and CEO of the Group
M.Sc.B.E., born 1978
With the company as from 2015, ﬁrst as the director for Incap opera ons in
Estonia. CEO of the Group as of 18 September 2018. He has served previously at
Ees Energia Technology Industries and ETAL Group, among others.

MURTHY MUNIPALLI
Director, Opera ons India & Sales Asia
M.Sc. (Eng.), MBA, born 1964
Joined the company in 2008, serving ﬁrst as Sales Director and as Managing
Director of the Indian subsidiary. He has worked previously at Spike Technologies
Ltd (presently Qualcomm) and Tata Elxsi Ltd.

ANTTI PYNNÖNEN
CFO
M.Sc. (Econ.), born 1982
Joined the company in 2019. He has previously worked at ABB and at Wärtsilä.

GREG GRACE
Director, Opera ons Estonia
BA, born 1971
Joined the company 2018 serving as Director of Business Development of Incap
Estonia. His previous work experience includes management posi ons in Skano
Group, Coca-Cola HBC Bal cs and NSB Kaubanduse AS.

JAMIE MAUGHAN
Director of Opera ons UK & Slovakia and
Managing Director of Incap Electronics UK Limited
HND, born 1972
Jamie joined Incap in January 2020 through the acquisi on of AWS Electronics
Group. Jamie started his career at Motorola. He has had various roles in electronic
manufacturing and has run several sites.

Management team members hold neither Incap shares nor stock op ons.
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SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS
Incap Corpora on has on 31 December 2020 one series of shares
and a total of 5,820,224 shares. Company's share capital
registered in the trade registry was EUR 1,000,000 on 31
December 2020. The company does not own any of its own
shares.
Incap Corpora on's shares are listed on the NASDAQ OMX
Helsinki since 5 May 1997. In the Nordic OMX List Incap belongs
to the Small Cap segment and the industry sector of Incap is
Industrials/Industrial Goods & Services. The company code is ICP
and the book entry type code is ICP1V.
The price of Incap Corpora on's share varied in the range of
EUR 8.51 to EUR 19.20 during the ﬁnancial year. The last
quota on in trading at the end of the year 2020 was EUR 18.45.
The company's market capitalisa on on 31 December 2020 was
EUR 107.4 million. In the end of the ﬁnancial year 2020 the
company had 3,931 shareholders and 9.0% of the shares were
nominee-registered.

SHAREHOLDER AGREEMENTS
The Board of Directors is not aware of any shareholder
agreements concerning the ownership and vo ng rights of the
company’s shares.

SHAREHOLDINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AND THE PRESIDENT
The members of the company’s Board of Directors, the President
and their interest par es owned a total of 55,638 shares, or 1.0%
of the company’s shares and votes. Changes in the holdings of the
Board of Directors, the President and the Group management
team are announced in stock exchange releases, which are
available on the company’s website at www.incapcorp.com,
sec on Investors/News and Releases.
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Development of share capital
Date
31 January 1991
28 April 1992
30 September 1992
15 January 1993
16 March 1994
10 March 1997
05 May 1997
04 May 1998
21 March 2002
06 April 2016
26 October 2020

Merger
Increase
Decrease
Increase
Increase
Increase
Increase
Increase
Increase
Decrease
Increase

Change
1,000 euros

Registered on

Share capital,
1,000 euros

5,760
424
4,972
32
563
978
975
40
14,583
19,487
1,455,056

26 February 1992
25 November 1992
02 December 1992
11 August 1993
21 December 1994
21 March 1997
05 May 1997
04 May 1998
24 April 2002
31 August 2016
20 November 2020

7,862
8,286
3,314
3,347
3,910
4,889
5,864
5,904
20,487
1,000
1,000

Largest shareholders on 31 December 2020

Shares, pcs

Percentage of shares and
votes, %

OY ETRA INVEST AB
NORDEA LIFE INSURANCE FINLAND
JOENSUUN KAUPPA JA KONE OY
LAAKKONEN MIKKO KALERVO
DANSKE BANK A/S HELSINKI BRANCH
MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY ILMARINEN
MANDATUM LIFE UNIT-LINKED
K22 FINANCE OY
KAKKONEN KARI HEIKKI ILMARI
SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN AB
10 largest total

1,137,333
581,810
541,245
291,009
283,538
261,308
200,104
157,094
133,333
129,433
3,716,207

19.54
9.99
9.30
4.99
4.87
4.49
3.44
2.70
2.29
2.22
63.85

Holding by sector on 31 December 2020
Private enterprises
Financial ins tu ons
Public sector en es
Households
Non-proﬁt organiza ons
Foreign ownership
TOTAL
Nominee-registered

Holding by number of shares on 31 December 2020
Shares, pcs
1 – 100
101 – 500
501 – 1000
1,001 – 5,000
5,001 – 10,000
10,001 – 50,000
50,001 – 100,000
100,001 – 500,000
500,001 –
TOTAL
Nominee-registered

Shareholders, pcs

%

150
10
1
3,754
4
12
3,931
10

3.8
0.3
0.0
95.5
0.1
0.3
100.0

Shareholders,
pcs
2,048
1,301
282
232
32
20
6
7
3
3,931
10

%
52.1
33.1
7.2
5.9
0.8
0.5
0.2
0.2
0.1
100.0

Shares and
votes, pcs

%

1,146,510
2,495,405
261,308
1,868,799
5,919
42,283
5,820,224
521,989

19.7
42.9
4.5
32.1
0.1
0.7
100.00
9.0

Shares and
votes, pcs

%

75,852
308,800
196,409
452,637
214,806
404,589
450,924
1,455,819
2,260,388
5,820,224
521,989

1.3
5.3
3.4
7.8
3.7
7.0
7.7
25.0
38.8
100.00
9.0
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„

In November 2020, we
successfully completed
our rights issue of
10.9 million euros.

incapcorp.com

